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          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good morning, I

          3  am Helen Foster the Chair of the Parks and

          4  Recreation Committee.

          5                 This is a joint committee hearing

          6  between the Parks and Recreation Committee and the

          7  Committee on Waterfronts.

          8                 I very much look forward to hearing

          9  what is in the works with our Parks Marina and the

         10  development of waterfront, and a concern that I have

         11  that I will always have is that whatever we do in

         12  terms of Parks in this City, is done across the

         13  board and not done in more affluent areas, and we

         14  leave those less affluent areas to kind of develop

         15  themselves, which has been a concern of mine.

         16                 So, I look forward to hearing from

         17  the Parks Department, and before we start, I will

         18  ask Council Member Nelson to make an opening

         19  statement, and then we can get going.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair.

         22                 Today's hearing has been convened for

         23  the purpose of learning more about the City's plan

         24  for creating public waterfront recreational access

         25  in the City.  The waterfront is, obviously, one of
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          2  New York City's greatest resources.  For hundreds of

          3  years the ports of this city drove the economy.

          4  Today, although still important to the overall

          5  economy, uses of the waterfront are turning toward

          6  recreation.

          7                 As a public resource, the waterfront

          8  is open to all New Yorkers equally, and it is

          9  important that they City do what it can to ensure

         10  that everyone has the same opportunities to share in

         11  its use.

         12                 The 13 marinas operated by the

         13  Department of Parks and Recreation serve over 3,500

         14  recreational boaters per year, but the question is,

         15  is that enough?  Are boaters being turned away

         16  because supply does not meet demand?  Are costs

         17  keeping low income New Yorkers from fully enjoying

         18  the waterfront?  And what is being done to promote

         19  the use of the waterfront, and educate the public

         20  about the opportunities available to them?

         21                 I hope we can get answers to these

         22  questions today, and I would like to welcome the

         23  representative from the Department of Parks and

         24  Recreation, Mr. Keith Kerman who is Chief of

         25  Operations.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Mr. Kerman, just

          3  before you get started in coming to the table, let

          4  me say we have been joined by Council Member James

          5  from Brooklyn, Council Member Gallagher is on his

          6  way, Council Member Addabbo called and has a

          7  situation in his district, and hopes to make it but

          8  we are not sure.

          9                 So, welcome.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  Thank you, good morning.

         11                 My name is Keith Kerman.  I am Chief

         12  of Operations of the Parks Department.  I want to

         13  thank you Chairwoman Foster, and members of the

         14  Parks Committee, and Chairman Nelson, and members of

         15  the Waterfronts Committee for having this hearing

         16  and inviting us.

         17                 On behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, Deputy

         18  Mayor Patty Harris, and Commissioner Adrian Benepe,

         19  my name is Keith Kerman and I oversee and manage the

         20  marinas at the Parks Department.

         21                 With me today is Ron Liberman

         22  (phonetic) the Director of Concessions, who oversees

         23  the concessions and licensed marinas and boat clubs.

         24    Also here is Parks Dockmaster, Bill Linman who

         25  keeps our boats safe, and our Government Relations
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          2  team of Michael Schnall (phonetic) and Daniel King.

          3                 The Parks Department has a new marina

          4  manager named Nate Growth (phonetic) who is actually

          5  on his honeymoon, so, could not quite be here.

          6                 Thank you again for the opportunity

          7  to discuss the Parks marinas.

          8                 Under Mayor Bloomberg's leadership,

          9  Parks is increasing public access to our historic

         10  waterfronts through the development of new

         11  waterfront parks and greenways.  These spaces allow

         12  New Yorkers to relax and recreate along the

         13  shoreline, and enjoy the City's beautiful waterfront

         14  vistas.

         15                 Along with enhancing the waterfront,

         16  Parks is also helping New Yorkers safely enjoy the

         17  water.  Millions utilized over 14 miles of city

         18  beaches, and 50 outdoor pools this summer. I do not

         19  think our pools and beaches have ever been busier.

         20  Parks has ten indoor pools that are open all year

         21  round.

         22                 Along with the millions that visit

         23  city beaches and pools, thousands of others are

         24  docking their boats and launching canoe's from city

         25  marinas and launches.  Parks has 15 marinas in total
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          2  that serve over 3,500 recreational boaters each

          3  year.  We like to think of ourselves as the

          4  recreational boating gateway to New York City.  The

          5  boating season is still on by the way, running from

          6  May 1st through October 31st.

          7                      Today I would like to give you

          8  an overview of the marinas that the Parks Department

          9  directly manages, and how we are getting more New

         10  Yorkers to the water.

         11                 Parks Internal Marinas Division

         12  manages three marinas.  Our flagship marinas are the

         13  West 79th Street Boat Basin in Riverside Park,

         14  Manhattan, and the World's Fair Marina in Flushing

         15  Meadows Corona Park in Queens.  Both marinas offer

         16  seasonal and transient recreational slips, kayak and

         17  canoe launches, commercial landing spots, and are

         18  staffed 24 hours a day all year round.

         19                 The 79th Street Boat Basin has 116

         20  boat slips and 70 moorings, the moorings are those

         21  white balls you see in the water, and is one of the

         22  city's most popular recreational boating locations.

         23  The current cost for a slip at the Boat Basin is

         24  $100 per boat foot.  A full season mooring is

         25  $1,500.  The site is so popular that there is
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          2  currently a waiting list of over 400 for seasonal

          3  slips.

          4                 We are exploring ways to meet the

          5  demand for more slips at the Boat Basin.  Last

          6  spring, we added eight slips and seven moorings.  It

          7  is a tight spot, so eight slips is actually helpful.

          8    We are currently in the beginning stages of

          9  conducting a dredging analysis for the site.  This

         10  is the first step in determining the cost to dredge

         11  and the overall feasibility of expanding that

         12  marina.

         13                 The Boat Basin is a popular location

         14  for non boaters as well.  The Boat Basin Cafe offers

         15  casual dining with great open- air seating

         16  overlooking the bobbing boats on the Hudson River.

         17  The Boat Basin supports the New York City Triathalon

         18  and Manhattan Swim events.  Three years ago, we

         19  opened A- dock, a 350- foot marina working dock, for

         20  public strolling six days a week.  This has proven a

         21  very popular attraction, especially in the evenings

         22  in Riverside Park, and we actually cow to them, and

         23  just hundreds and thousands of people are taking

         24  advantage of that and getting to see the marina.  We

         25  also added a dedicated kayak launch at the Boat
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          2  Basin.

          3                 The World's Fair Marina in Queens

          4  offers 292 recreational boat slips, seven commercial

          5  slips and a ferry landing.  Recreational slips at

          6  World's Fair Marina range from $68 per linear foot

          7  for our smallest vessels to $115 per foot for those

          8  66 feet or larger.

          9                 The World's Fair Marina has a lot to

         10  offer boating enthusiasts.  You can take advantage

         11  of the marina's dinner, party and event cruises, a

         12  dock- and- dine restaurant, and the newly

         13  constructed 1.4- mile Flushing Bay promenade, which

         14  was constructed by Parks with support from DEP, City

         15  DEP.  Sports fans can avoid car traffic and boat to

         16  Mets games or, and we did have ferry's to the recent

         17  U.S. Open going into the World's Fair Marina.  This

         18  marina also has the capacity to store boats during

         19  the winter, which is a very high demand service we

         20  provide.

         21                 The World's Fair Marina has

         22  tremendous growth capacity.  This fall we will

         23  restore 40 recreational slips at Pier 1.  We are

         24  also installing new security features and amenities

         25  to draw additional boaters.  Just as a note, 40
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          2  slips is as big as some of our concession marinas in

          3  total.  So, 40 slips is a substantial increase

          4  there, and anyone who knows people who are looking

          5  for slips, we are looking to make sure we make

          6  sales.

          7                 There is a public boat launch for

          8  people that love the water but do not want a

          9  permanent boat slip.  Each morning you see boaters

         10  leave from their berths at the marina and practice

         11  for the annual Dragonboat competition at Meadow Lake

         12  in Flushing Meadows Park.  That just took place this

         13  August.

         14                 Parks also operates the commercial

         15  piers at Sheepshead Bay in Brooklyn.  Currently, 23

         16  fishing and charter boars operate year round from

         17  Sheepshead Bay, paying $120 per foot.  On the piers,

         18  they are not recreational boats, they are commercial

         19  boats that focus on recreational activities,

         20  charters, fishing, et cetera.

         21                 We are undertaking a number of

         22  improvements to ensure that Sheepshead Bay remains a

         23  top destination.  We completed nearly $900,000 in

         24  utility and pier renovations in 2003, and we are

         25  currently restoring the benches and sidewalks. A new
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          2  Customer Center, if you have been there off of Pier

          3  10 you will see it, has been recently installed and

          4  will soon open.   A Marinas Division staff person

          5  will work from the center full time, helping to

          6  maintain and promote Sheepshead Bay, and that person

          7  is already there.  They are the person in the GEM

          8  (phonetic) electric cart, but now they will have a

          9  place to sit.

         10                 Parks has made its in- house marinas

         11  self sufficient while keeping fees below comparable

         12  private facilities.

         13                 In total, these three marinas

         14  generate nearly $2.1 million in annual revenue while

         15  supporting thousands of boaters. Sales and revenue

         16  have increased 60 percent in five years.  In the

         17  last two years, we have increased by more than 50

         18  percent the number of transient boaters at the Boat

         19  Basin.  We are bringing a lot more transient

         20  business, people who want to come in for the day or

         21  the week, and we are bringing in more money that

         22  way, and we are serving more people.

         23                 We also, of course, have a concession

         24  marina program.  Parks has over 600 concession

         25  agreements citywide, to provide all types of
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          2  services, food services and recreational

          3  opportunities in parks throughout the City.  These

          4  concessions range from hot dog stands to gourmet

          5  kiosks, from batting cages to marinas.

          6                 In addition to offering a variety of

          7  water- based recreational opportunities, our

          8  concessions improve the overall atmosphere at Parks

          9  marinas through regular maintenance and capital

         10  improvements such as new docks, piers and cafes.

         11                 There are currently 12 concession-

         12  operated marinas.  We do have a map of those if you

         13  are interested in that.  These marinas include:

         14  Bayside Marina in Queens, Dyckman Marina in

         15  Manhattan, Hammonds Cove in the Bronx, Lemon Creek

         16  in Staten Island, Mill Basin Marina, Hudson River

         17  Yacht Club, Midget Squadron Yacht Club, Diamond

         18  Point Yacht Club, Sebago Canoe Club, Paedegat

         19  Squadron Yacht Club, those are all in Brooklyn,

         20  Point Yacht Club which is in the Bronx, and Sherman

         21  Creek in Manhattan.

         22                 In many cases, the City has worked in

         23  partnership with long- standing boat clubs to ensure

         24  these unique services remain available to

         25  neighborhoods throughout the City.
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          2                 These concessions vary in size and

          3  amenities but provide an affordable way for New

          4  Yorkers to enjoy the water. Our summer boat slip

          5  rates generally range from $60- $85 dollars per

          6  linear foot.  The average cost in the tri- state

          7  area ranges from $90- $120 dollars per linear foot,

          8  we are a lot less, with Hudson River and New York

          9  Harbor- based marinas charging much more.

         10                 Our concession rates are well below

         11  the rates of other marinas in the area.

         12                 Bayside Marina located in Little Neck

         13  Bay, offers motor boat rentals and a fishing pier,

         14  and it is a very fun marina.  The concession has a

         15  bait and tackle shop, and a cafe to keep fisherman

         16  and boaters well stocked and well fed.  Adjacent to

         17  the marina there is a public boat launch available

         18  to anyone where boaters can launch motor boats,

         19  kayaks and canoes.

         20                 At Hammonds Cove Marina in the Bronx,

         21  you can enjoy views of the Throgs Neck Bridge from

         22  the newly built "Ice House Cafe" and deck.  Hammonds

         23  Cove offer a boat lift, winter boat storage and has

         24  160 slips.

         25                 Sebago Canoe Club located on
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          2  Paerdegat Basin in Brooklyn is one of the oldest

          3  continuously operated paddling clubs in New York.

          4  This canoe club has a short pier and a floating boat

          5  launch that can be used to start your kayaking,

          6  canoeing and sailing adventures, and Sebago really

          7  advertising to the broad spectrum of beginners and

          8  recreational enthusiasts, but it has got a high

          9  tolerance for teaching people.  It is a nice site.

         10                 These marinas also produce revenue

         11  for the City's general fund.  In Fiscal Year`06,

         12  marina concessions brought in nearly $600,000.  That

         13  is separate from the money coming in from our in-

         14  house marinas.  These concessions will also provide

         15  over $1.7 million in capital improvements.

         16                 For example, at Mill Basin Marina,

         17  the concessionaire has replaced all existing slips

         18  and is currently working to add 20 to 30 new slips.

         19  At Hammonds Cove in the Bronx, the concessionaire

         20  has renovated the marina and has replaced all slips,

         21  upgraded the dock side electric and water, and built

         22  a new snack bar and comfort station, and if you

         23  boat, the electric and the utilities are a big issue

         24  for boaters as I have learned in my years.

         25                 We are also working on new marina and
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          2  boat launch development.  These marinas are a great

          3  resource, and we want to get the word out to all New

          4  Yorkers, and that was mentioned earlier.  Parks has

          5  developed a extensive marinas and boating section on

          6  its website, nyc.gov/parks.  This site has contact

          7  and availability information on all our marinas.  It

          8  has a map of all our launches and locations and

          9  phone numbers, boating safety and emergency

         10  guidelines, our rules, fees, there is a fishing site

         11  we are developing, and a whole lot more.  We have

         12  worked very hard on this site.  The website is

         13  becoming a one- stop location for recreational

         14  boaters and we continue to add new features and

         15  links.

         16                 Parks has also offered a new Customer

         17  Survey that is available to all boaters at our

         18  Parks- managed marinas and also on our website, and

         19  hundreds of people have taken- have used that to

         20  give us their opinions.

         21                 Parks also reaches out directly to

         22  the boating community through promotions in boating

         23  circulations, trade magazines, and cruising guides.

         24  These include the MPC Official Boaters Directory and

         25  the Norther Waterway Guide.
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          2                 Marinas are not the only way for New

          3  Yorkers to access the waterfront.  Parks has nine

          4  kayak launches throughout the city, and three public

          5  launches for motor boats at Dyckman Marina, Bayside

          6  Marina and World's Fair Marina.

          7                 We are developing new hand powered

          8  boat launches along the Bronx River and are

          9  exploring locations for new kayak and hand powered

         10  boat launches at many sites including Point Yacht

         11  Club, Fort Totten Park in Queens on that little

         12  beach front, Brooklyn Bridge Park, and Fresh Kills

         13  in Staten Island.

         14                 Through its Capacity Fund,

         15  Partnerships for Parks, the joint program of the

         16  Parks Department and the City Parks Foundation are

         17  supporting both the Long Island City Community

         18  Boathouse and the Gowanus Dredgers new Red Hook

         19  Boaters group. This fall, Partnerships will sponsor

         20  a technical assistance program called "Make the Most

         21  of your Waterfront: From Usership to Stewardship"

         22  that will support efforts to further improve water

         23  access.

         24                 The Urban Park Rangers offer

         25  programs, as well, that connect people with the
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          2  waterfront.  They offer canoeing throughout the warm

          3  months in parks citywide including Marine Park,

          4  Pelham Bay Park, Inwood Hill Park, Fort Totten, Van

          5  Cortlandt, Prospect Park, Alley Pond Park in Queens,

          6  Central Park, and down the Bronx River.  The

          7  Rangers' water- based educational and recreation

          8  programming includes our Natural Classroom school

          9  program, ichthyology (the study of fish), and catch-

         10  and- release fishing.  The Rangers have helped

         11  develop new canoe launches at Pelham Bay Park and

         12  Inwood Hill Park.  The Inwood Hill Park site opened

         13  up recently.  The Downtown Boathouse also offers

         14  kayaking instruction from a dock in Riverside Park

         15  at 71st Street.

         16                 As we encourage, and as we all

         17  encourage more people to get out into the water, we

         18  also want to work on making sure they are safe.  It

         19  is very important that we focus on boat safety, and

         20  I know you have done that as well.

         21                 Last year, the City Council and the

         22  Mayor partnered on the no wake bill, the "Jim

         23  Runsdorf" Law of 2005. The bill established a no

         24  wake zone from the Spuyten Duyvil trestle to the

         25  High Bridge on the Harlem River.
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          2                 Parks has worked with NYPD to

          3  implement this law. With NYPD, we have developed a

          4  No Wake Advisory to educate boaters on the no wake

          5  restriction and promote responsible boating.  We

          6  have a copy of that advisory if that is of interest.

          7  We have distributed thousands of these brochures at

          8  all our City marinas, through our Internet site, and

          9  also the Police Department has distributed thousands

         10  directly.  Every boating customer of Parks receives

         11  a marina and boating safety package and this no wake

         12  information as part of it, and we are doing our best

         13  to really get that word out there.

         14                 We have also posted 8' X 4'`No Wake'

         15  signage at the Henry Hudson Parkway Bridge, just

         16  after the Spyten Duyvil trestle, in front of the

         17  Nature Center in Inwood Hill Park, to the north and

         18  south of Swindler Cove and the new Sharp Boat House,

         19  and below the High Bridge, at the southernmost

         20  portion of the No Wake zone.  We are currently

         21  working with DOT Bridges Department to post

         22  additional No Wake signage on the inner two bridges-

         23  Broadway Bridge and University Heights Bridge.

         24  Those signs are made, and we are just working to get

         25  them posted up on the bridges that should have them
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          2  very soon.

          3                 On June 27th, Parks and the non-

          4  profit group Going Coastal held a Clean Boating,

          5  Clean Marina event at the 79th Street Boat Basin in

          6  Riverside Park.  Parks is working together with City

          7  DEP, Going Coastal and others to promote responsible

          8  boating, and use of free pumpout stations throughout

          9  New York and New Jersey.  There are free pump- out

         10  stations for vessel waste at the Boat Basin and

         11  Dyckman Marina in Manhattan, Hammonds Cove in the

         12  Bronx, World's Fair Marina and Bayside Marinas,

         13  Queens, Hudson River Yacht Club, Brooklyn, and Lemon

         14  Creek Marinas in Staten Island.  Parks received the

         15  group's first Annual Clean Marina Award.

         16                 Parks is also working with the State

         17  of New Jersey, harbor education sub- committee, to

         18  promote safe boating in the Hudson through

         19  the`IBoatNYNJ' program.  Parks also promotes boating

         20  education for youth through partnerships at the Boat

         21  Basin with historic sailing vessels Clearwater and

         22  the Lettie G. Howard from the South Street Seaport

         23  Museum, the Mystic Whaler from Mystic, Connecticut,

         24  and the Upper West Side's Metropolitan Montessori

         25  School.  Other non- profit educational groups that
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          2  we have supported include Reach the World's`Makulu',

          3  a world- spanning educational vessel that is

          4  somewhere in an ocean right now filming on the

          5  Internet; the Lady Maryland vessel from the Living

          6  Classroom Foundation; and the Ocean Classroom

          7  program.

          8                 With that, I would be happy to answer

          9  any questions you have.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you, it

         12  seems to be quite a lot that you have been doing

         13  actually, a comprehensive report.  If anything you

         14  can think of that we can help you to make your

         15  mission that much easier, we can get into that also

         16  as we go on.

         17                 I was wondering have you reached out

         18  to, I mean, non- boaters specifically like perhaps

         19  community boards or other type of civic groups to

         20  see if other people may have an interest in this and

         21  somebody that just did not connect with them.

         22                 MR. KERMAN:  Well, there is a lot of

         23  discussion about waterfront access at community

         24  boards, through the Partnerships for Parks program,

         25  through development projects.  I mean, I think there
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          2  is a marina idea in every development project,

          3  whether they have come to fruition yet, we are still

          4  waiting on some but, I think there is a lot of talk

          5  about waterside access.

          6                 Obviously, you need to have safety,

          7  you need to have the right spots where you can have

          8  parking, where you can get boats into the water, and

          9  back out in a safe manner, where you can monitor it.

         10    But yes, there is a lot of conversation but if

         11  there are other groups you would like us to reach

         12  out to, we would certainly be willing to do that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Because it

         14  appears we may have more people interested than we

         15  have room to accommodate at present.  I know you

         16  added more slips and so on, coming this fall you

         17  said, mooring slips?

         18                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, at World's Fair

         19  Marina we are going to add 40 slips, and we will be

         20  interested to see how quickly we sell them.  We hope

         21  we sell them- the more quickly we sell them, the

         22  easier to make the argument to do more expansion but

         23  next spring we will have 40 additional slips at Pier

         24  1 at World's Fair, and that will be a test for our

         25  group to get those filled up before the season.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Do you know

          3  the total number of the slips that you have?

          4                 MR. KERMAN:  There will be 333- there

          5  are 293 or 297 now, and they will be up to about 333

          6  or 337.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  And there was

          8  a waiting list?

          9                 MR. KERMAN:  At the Boat Basin at

         10  79th Street, there is a very long waiting list.  It

         11  is a very popular location.  We did our best to

         12  expand within the footprint, but you really can only

         13  get six to eight slips there.  We actually added six

         14  permanent slips for people who long- term, and then

         15  added two transient slips, and that has helped.  We

         16  have done a lot of additional transient business

         17  through a couple of extra slips, and also we manage

         18  a little bit more creatively.  So, if you have got a

         19  slip, and you are going away for a month and you

         20  tell us that, we will sell your slip for transient

         21  services.  No reason not to, and that is standard in

         22  the business.

         23                 So, we have actually increased by 50

         24  percent our transient business.  People just want to

         25  come over for a day, a week, maybe a month, and that

                                                            24

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  has been a way that we have been able to get more

          3  boaters at 79th Street without expanding it.

          4                 We are looking at expanding, before

          5  we expand we would need to dredge.  That site has

          6  not been dredged in at least 30 years, maybe longer.

          7    It needs to be dredged, that is a major project,

          8  and we have initiated the first steps which is the

          9  environmental review to see what it would cost, and

         10  what would need to be done to do that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Working with

         12  the

         13  ecosystem--.

         14                 MR. KERMAN:  Sure.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am just going

         16  to jump in.              Can you tell me what

         17  dredging involves, how cumbersome or not cumbersome

         18  it is?  Is it a simple process or is it--?

         19                 MR. KERMAN:  Well I mean basically,

         20  at low tide you have a lot of mud slips.  The mud

         21  and silt underneath the water is, basically, over

         22  time increases as it comes up and the depth of the

         23  water for boaters is just that much more shallow.  At

         24  the Boat Basin, it is even an issue at medium tide,

         25  not at high tide, but at medium tide.  But if you
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          2  came at a low tide, and you looked at some of the

          3  slips, you could see mud, and actually some of those

          4  slips are not operational during low tides.

          5  Basically, it is an environmental process that D.C.

          6  And the Coast Guard have oversight over.

          7                 The first step which we are doing is

          8  assessing what is in the sludge and silt material

          9  because that determines what the disposal options

         10  for us will be.  If it is clean drudge and fill

         11  material, then we may have more readily available

         12  disposal options.  If there is concern that it has

         13  environmental products in it that could be harmful,

         14  then the disposal becomes more complicated.

         15                 The second part of that process is

         16  just determining how much silt- you really have to

         17  do a survey to find out how deep the mud is, and

         18  where it is so you get an estimate of how much of

         19  this dredge material you will ultimately remove, so

         20  you know how much it will cost.

         21                 This project we hope to have done in

         22  the spring, the assessment.  But, dredging will cost

         23  $2- $3 million, it will not be cheap.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Will the Army

         25  Corp of Engineers be involved with this or is it
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          2  other agencies?

          3                 MR. KERMAN:  It is other agencies

          4  right now, but certainly if the Army Corp were- if

          5  you have got an in, the World's Fair Marina as well,

          6  Pier 2, you know the middle pier at World's Fair

          7  Marina- it is not operational for the same reason,

          8  for dredging, and we are also looking at the options

          9  to dredge at World's Fair Marina.  We have the

         10  expansionability at Pier 1, so we are focusing on

         11  that first but over time, we could fit another 250

         12  slips at the World's Fair Marina if we could dredge

         13  that middle pier.

         14                 So, right now we want to make sure we

         15  can sell the 40 slips we are building, but hey, if

         16  those 40 go, and there is more demand, there is a

         17  pier that used to operate in the 70's and 80's that

         18  has been defunct for over a decade because of

         19  dredging, and so, there is another opportunity

         20  there.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you.

         22                 I would like to welcome Council

         23  Member Alan Gerson, the district which we are

         24  holding this hearing in, as a matter of fact, and

         25  Council Member Jim Vacca from the Bronx.
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          2                 What criteria is used to determine

          3  whether a marina is operated by DPR or a private

          4  concession?  What would be the benefits of either

          5  one?

          6                 MR. KERMAN:  Well, to some extent it

          7  is pragmatic. Both the Boat Basin and World's Fair

          8  Marina were in the last two decades operated by

          9  private concessionaires, the Boat Basin in the late

         10  80's, and the World's Fair Marina in the late 90's.

         11  There were problems with both concessionaires, and

         12  the Parks Department came in and operated those.

         13                 To some extent it makes sense for us

         14  to operate in Riverside Park in Flushing.  My

         15  division alone has probably 50 to 60 technical staff

         16  running other types of operations in those parks.

         17  We are heavily staffed in those parks, we are used

         18  to running a lot of operations in those parks, and

         19  they are our biggest, most public marinas.  And we

         20  are doing well so it is pragmatic.

         21                 Right now we are- revenue is up,

         22  transient business is up, we are repairing a lot of

         23  the infrastructure at the Boat Basin, and we did a

         24  $700,000 project to put in new ice protection

         25  systems.  Right now we are making the case that we
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          2  should run it, but it is pragmatic and to some

          3  extent, if there are ideas out there about private

          4  operations, we would certainly welcome to hear them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I also want

          6  to thank Counsel to the Committee, Jeffrey Baker who

          7  is sitting to my right for helping put this meeting

          8  together today.

          9                 Were not all the marinas either

         10  operated by the Parks or concessionaires, would DBI

         11  be able to build and maintain perhaps more marinas

         12  if they were run entirely by the Department or

         13  entirely run by the a concessionaire?

         14                 MR. KERMAN:  Well I mean, it all

         15  depends on how that marina comes- let me say this

         16  about marinas, they are not easy businesses to run,

         17  and right now especially with real estate costs,

         18  there is a lot of demand on waterfront property.

         19  Marinas have a lot of very vulnerable

         20  infrastructure, docks and piers, ice damage.  If you

         21  remember two years ago, that one big coastal storm

         22  we had, I think it was in December or January, wiped

         23  out most of the ice protection at the Boat Basin,

         24  and cost a lot of money to get that repaired.

         25                 But certainly, we are open to
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          2  whatever works. There is not a larger ideological

          3  principle behind it.  If a private concessionaire

          4  came in with a marina development project and wanted

          5  to operate the marina and build a marina, we would

          6  love to hear that.  If there was another marina

          7  where we felt we could operate it and be self-

          8  sufficient and provide services, we would do that.

          9  I think it is case by case, and it is pragmatic.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It is not

         11  generally one size fits all.

         12                 MR. KERMAN:  No, and again, we are

         13  doing well at the in- house run marinas now.  So,

         14  that is our best argument.  If revenue were down, if

         15  we were not expanding usership, then I think there

         16  would be more pressure to look for other options.

         17  But right now, we are pretty competitive and we are

         18  in expansion mode, and we are self- sufficient, so.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well, thank

         20  you.

         21                 I want to also mention joining us is

         22  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan.

         23                 Council Member James.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Good morning.

         25                 I want to talk to you a little bit
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          2  about promoting boating safety.  In your testimony

          3  you talked about how Parks in promoting boating

          4  education for youth through Partnerships at the Boat

          5  Basin, and you specifically mentioned the Upper West

          6  Side's Metropolitan Montessori School.

          7                 As I am sure you know, I represent-

          8  my district is close to the Brooklyn Bridge Park,

          9  and so my question is, I understand that you are

         10  launching a kayaking program, are there any plans to

         11  promote boater education for youth- for youth in the

         12  Brooklyn Bridge Park, or in any of the marinas in

         13  Downtown Brooklyn.

         14                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes I mean, one, there

         15  is a lot of discussion about marina access with the

         16  Brooklyn Bridge Park project.  I do not think that-

         17  I am not the person to discuss where that is right

         18  now, but there is a lot of talk about marine access,

         19  and there is a hope to have waterfront access as

         20  that park project develops.

         21                 And yes, the Partnerships for Parks

         22  program is promoting waterfront access in every

         23  borough, and in Brooklyn.               You know,

         24  the Sebago Canoe club is really, as I mentioned

         25  before, the best site in the City for recreational
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          2  and educational boating.  If there is any site you

          3  want to go and check out where it is really

          4  receptive to young people and receptive to learning

          5  on how to get on the water, they are excellent.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  The Rangers

          7  Water- based Education and Recreational Programming,

          8  which includes the Natural Classroom school program

          9  and the study of fish- catch and release fishing, is

         10  that also done at Prospect Park as well?

         11                 MR. KERMAN:  I believe so, I would

         12  have to confirm that but I believe they have

         13  programs in all of our major flagship parks.  I

         14  would just need to confirm that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  How do they

         16  engage in outreach?

         17                 MR. KERMAN:  Partnerships for Parks

         18  has a database of over 40,000, probably more now,

         19  volunteers and park groups that we work with.

         20                 It has been a program that won the

         21  Kennedy School Innovations Award, it has been in

         22  place for ten years, and has enormous outreach

         23  capacity to the Department of Education, to local

         24  community groups, park support groups.

         25                 If you have anyone who you would like
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          2  us to be in contact with, we would do that but

          3  Partnerships has enormous scope throughout this City

          4  and really is a--.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  In that

          6  database do they include a number of not- for-

          7  profit organizations, and how do you treat not- for-

          8  profit organizations in terms of fees?

          9                 I mean, is there a sliding scale, if

         10  there are any fees associated with the use of these

         11  programs and or--?

         12                 MR. KERMAN:  I think most of these

         13  programs are free.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

         15                 MR. KERMAN:  I do not- I mean, I do

         16  not have the list of all of our programs in front of

         17  me, but most of our programs that the Urban Park

         18  Rangers offer on the water are free.              We

         19  certainly would be happy to have the Rangers give

         20  you a tour.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

         22                 MR. KERMAN:  And go through the

         23  specific programs in your district.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Is it year

         25  round, is it summer months, or do you have any idea?

                                                            33

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 MR. KERMAN:  Well like anything else

          3  in the water, you are seasonally- based.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

          5                 MR. KERMAN:  So most of our

          6  programming is during the spring and summer months

          7  when it is safe to be out on the water, when it is

          8  relatively warm.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  The traditional boating

         11  season, in terms of boats, is again May 1st to

         12  October 31st.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  The boating

         14  programs include canoeing and kayaking, or is there

         15  any other- just limited to those two programs?

         16                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, I mean those are

         17  the most readily available ways to get on the water.

         18    Parks does not offer through the agency things

         19  like sailing programs, or motor boat programs.  We

         20  discourage jet skiing, so we certainly are not going

         21  to teach anybody how to do that.  It is mostly your

         22  hand powered waterfront access.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Okay, thank

         24  you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.
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          2                 I just have a couple of questions.

          3                 First, this is just a whole new world

          4  to me, so there are many things that you kind of

          5  heard of and I figured that 79th Street would just

          6  be so popular because it is, I guess, such an ideal

          7  location.  You are right in the heart, I was just

          8  going to say, you are right in the heart of Gale's

          9  district.  You can dock your boat.  Is that the

         10  correct--?

         11                 MR. KERMAN:  Absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  You can dock

         13  your boat and, I was going to say, and have a good

         14  meal.

         15                 Just a few questions.

         16                 MR. KERMAN:  And the Boat Basin Cafe

         17  is very popular.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         19                 MR. KERMAN:  If you go there on a

         20  weekday night, it is a packed place.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes, a site

         22  visit.

         23                 MR. KERMAN:  Sure, we will get you on

         24  the Parks boat.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just a couple of
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          2  questions.

          3                 Now, does the 79th Street Boat Basin

          4  have year round occupants?

          5                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, there are about 40

          6  year round permits over at the Boat Basin.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Of the marinas

          8  that the Parks Department operates, which is the

          9  largest?

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  Well, the World's Fair

         11  Marina is the largest in total scale and number of

         12  slips, but the Boat Basin does not have as many

         13  slips as the World's Fair, but it has more business

         14  because we do that very large transient business

         15  there.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right, that was

         17  going to be my second question.  I would assume that

         18  the 79th would be the most popular, so?

         19                 MR. KERMAN:  It is the busiest.  We

         20  are bringing the most revenue and it is all based

         21  on- we have 70 mooring balls, those balls that go up

         22  along the West Side.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         24                 MR. KERMAN:  There are not as in

         25  demand as slips because you have to take a little
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          2  dingy or raft to get to the shore but yes, you have

          3  an enormous transient business there.

          4                 We do not do the same level of

          5  transient business at World's Fair Marina.

          6  Certainly, we have a lot of people who go to the

          7  game by boat.  We had the ferries during the U.S.

          8  Open, and still now with the Mets.  But you do not

          9  have that same type of everyday high volume boats

         10  coming in and out that we do at Boat Basin.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  With the

         12  $600,000 generated in concessions, what percentage

         13  specifically stayed with the marina's that generated

         14  the concession?  Or do we just put it all to the

         15  general fun and then divvy it out at the end?

         16                 MR. LIBERMAN:  Hi.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How are you?

         18                 MR. LIBERMAN:  Hi, I am Ron Liberman,

         19  as Keith mentioned, I am the Director of

         20  Concessions.

         21                 As with all concessions on City

         22  Park's property, the revenue that is generated from

         23  the concessions falls back in to the City's general

         24  fund, and then we work with the City's Budget

         25  Division to bring money back to Parks to benefit its
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          2  programs.  As typical for all concessions, revenue

          3  goes into the City's general fund.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  For all

          5  concessions, except those that have private

          6  contracts, like Central Park or- because they get to

          7  keep a portion of their concessions?

          8                 MR. LIBERMAN:  Right, there are

          9  certain agreements in place where money does fall

         10  back, such as Central Park with the Conservancy

         11  there.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But in general,

         13  there is no other- with the marinas there is not a

         14  specific amount of that $600,000 that went right

         15  back to the marinas?

         16                 MR. LIBERMAN:  No, not specifically.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         18                 MR. KERMAN:  But you know over at the

         19  Boat Basin and the World's Fair Marina, as we

         20  increase revenue, those increases are coming back to

         21  us, not directly but through discussions with OMB to

         22  support these improvements.

         23                 MR. LIBERMAN:  Right.

         24                 MR. KERMAN:  So, when you are going

         25  to try and expand 40 slips at the World's Fair

                                                            38

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Marina, which we are doing now, we are able to make

          3  the case because our revenue is going up, and that

          4  is where we get that money.  The Boat Basins' very

          5  high transient business and general high revenue

          6  allows us to very quickly get $700,000 to rebuild

          7  the ice damage.

          8                 To give you a little bit of

          9  perspective, that one ice project, and to show you

         10  how tough the marina business can be, that is 70

         11  percent of our entire annual revenue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yes.

         13                 MR. KERMAN:  We brought in about a

         14  million dollars from the Boat Basin but had to do

         15  $700,000 just to repair the ice damage from that one

         16  big storm.

         17                 So it is- it can be a challenge to

         18  run these marinas, but the increased revenue at the

         19  in- house marinas has gone back, and OMB has worked

         20  with us to make sure that that goes back and almost

         21  incentivising us to help improve those sites.

         22                 MR. LIBERMAN:  Just one other thing?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Sure.

         24                 MR. LIBERMAN:  On a concession marina

         25  is we are successful in leveraging our
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          2  concessionaires in terms of doing the capital

          3  investment there directly, without any money coming

          4  our of the City's coffers at all.

          5                 So, we have the two benefits- you

          6  have the benefits of the revenue coming in, and then

          7  we are able to leverage these concessionaires to do

          8  all the improvements that Keith mentioned at no cost

          9  to the City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But then

         11  ultimately, does maintenance and repair fall under

         12  the Parks Department or these concessionaires?

         13                 MR. LIBERMAN:  On the concessions

         14  marinas, that obligation falls on the

         15  concessionaires.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         17                 MR. LIBERMAN:  They are fully

         18  responsible for maintaining and repairing those

         19  marinas.

         20                 MR. KERMAN:  On the in- house side,

         21  our Parks employees and our staff do that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, when you

         23  talk about your website and being a source of

         24  information, what other mechanisms do you have to

         25  reach out to people that just will not access the
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          2  website?  Specifically I am talking about maybe,

          3  educational programs that is going to introduce

          4  boating, marinas, just- this is a whole world that

          5  many New Yorkers have never heard of and what is

          6  being done to, maybe, partnering with schools or

          7  just having educational programs to introduce, I am

          8  thinking right now, young people to the world of

          9  boating, water safety, marinas, all that?

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  We are doing a number of

         11  things, and there is a lot more that we can do.

         12                 One, in addition to being on the

         13  Internet, the marina maps, the marina safety and

         14  promotional material that we do, is distributed to

         15  our recreation centers, to all the kind of different

         16  access points.  If you come to the Arsenal Parks

         17  Store today, you can pick up all the marina

         18  information.  Everybody walks into Central Park, so

         19  we try and promote and distribute that through our

         20  Partnerships for Parks Program, I believe their

         21  recent leaflet discussed waterfront access in depth

         22  through our Parks Recreation Centers, and through

         23  our other kind of avenues for promoting the

         24  waterfront.

         25                 We were out at an event over in
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          2  Queens very recently where we brought canoes out and

          3  were bringing kids out at Roy Wilkens Park, and

          4  southeast Queens, and letting them kind of get into

          5  a canoe and a kayak to see what it is like, and

          6  learn more about the waterfront.

          7                 Next year, and we are still working

          8  on this, but we do plan to have and one of our

          9  dockmasters is here now, regular youth programs

         10  where they actually come and learn for an hour or

         11  two about the marinas from a dockmaster.  We have

         12  been working and developing this program, which we

         13  want to pitch both at the World's Fair Marina and at

         14  79th Street, where you can come out and really be on

         15  the docks, get out in a boat, and see this kind of

         16  very fascinating world.  It is fascinating, it is

         17  whole different part of New York City life that

         18  makes you think you are out in Maine somewhere.

         19                 But we are doing a lot through

         20  distributing materials, through the Urban Park

         21  Rangers, through Partnerships, and also we want to

         22  have more youth direct access to our marinas through

         23  our dockmaster, through kind of a learn from the

         24  dockmaster program, something like that.

         25                 But, we are open to ideas.  There is

                                                            42

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  always more we can do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I think and I

          4  know my colleagues have questions, so I will wrap it

          5  up but I think that it is important that boating in

          6  general is a recreation that requires money.  So,

          7  you get a specific type of person that is familiar

          8  with it, and given the diversity of New York, it

          9  would be very helpful that we expose this to others

         10  that maybe do not even live near the marina, but

         11  have the opportunity to see it.              So, I

         12  would like to see more joint partnerships with

         13  schools or youth organizations, even like you said,

         14  if it is coming out and talking to the dockmaster,

         15  and I guarantee you a lot of these kids have not

         16  even heard of a dockmaster.  I think that would be

         17  great exposure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I heard that

         19  Sheepshead Bay was going to get a dockmaster.  It

         20  was spoken about like a couple of years ago.  Have

         21  you ever heard anything about that?

         22                 MR. KERMAN:  Sheepshead Bay actually

         23  has and has for the last two years, a full- time

         24  city park worker.  A person named Darrin Liberman

         25  (phonetic), who works under the oversight of our
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          2  Marina's Division, under the oversight of our

          3  dockmasters. He has been there for two years daily,

          4  cleaning the marinas, communicating with the

          5  commercial operators there, keeping the trash bins

          6  off the sidewalk, and it has been very well

          7  received, and very well successful.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  But he does

          9  not have the title--.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  But he is a City park

         11  worker, but Sheepshead Bay is overseen by our

         12  Marinas Division, which is run by our dockmaster.

         13  He is not in the dockmaster title per se, but our

         14  dockmasters are overseeing Sheepshead, and we do

         15  have which we put in place two years ago, a full-

         16  time staff person there. That person is going to be

         17  in that new customer center, which is on Pier 10,

         18  which will open very soon as that whole construction

         19  project gets completed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It has been

         21  maintained fairly well, as a matter of fact, in the

         22  last couple of years and I appreciate that.  I mean

         23  the Skim- a- Boat, but that is not your division, it

         24  is DEP.

         25                 Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I am sorry,

          5  we have been joined by Council Member- oh that is

          6  your job.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We have been

          8  joined by Council Member Gallagher from Queens.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  See Dennis,

         11  they are fighting over you.

         12                 Thank you very much Mr. Chair, Madam

         13  Chair, and let me just state at the outset that the

         14  79th Street Marina may be very nice, but I invite

         15  you all to the North Cove Marina, just a few blocks

         16  from where we are.

         17                 By the way, the reason that is not

         18  listed, I take it as on your reference to different

         19  city marinas is, that is because that is under the

         20  Battery Park City Authority auspices?

         21                 MR. KERMAN:  That would be correct,

         22  yes, that is not a Parks Department license.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, because

         24  of its affiliation with the Authority?

         25                 MR. KERMAN:  I believe so, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, I just

          3  want to I mean, I think our Chair said it all.  I

          4  just want to really echo and endorse and underscore

          5  the sentiments of Chair Foster in terms of really,

          6  we as a city undertaking a major concerted effort

          7  to, not only open up the waterfront in terms of

          8  access to the water edge, but to open up the

          9  waterfront in terms of in water recreation, which

         10  obviously means in- water boating recreation to New

         11  Yorkers and especially young New Yorkers of all

         12  income levels.

         13                 I mean, we are a nautical city, and

         14  it is a shame that too many young people grow up

         15  without any relationship to the water which

         16  surrounds them.

         17                 So, I would like to challenge us and

         18  the Department to really take the lead in crafting a

         19  significant expansion or supplementation of your

         20  Urban Park Rangers Program. I mean, you said in your

         21  testimony you do not really extend the Program to

         22  cover boating activities such as sailing or limited

         23  power boating.  Well, why not?  We should, we should

         24  be encouraging and teaching young people how to sail

         25  and get into the water on different kinds of sail
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          2  boats, kayaks, canoes, paddleboats, I know those are

          3  my favorites the paddleboats, those are the easiest

          4  but just kind of sit and paddle around.  But, the

          5  full range and you know, not only in our major parks

          6  in the lakes but in the different rivers and

          7  riveredges and enclaves where we can create them,

          8  and maybe you have to charge a very small- I usually

          9  opposed targeted, directed fees for- but when there

         10  is a direct relationship between who is paying the

         11  fee and the activity, I could consider it.  Maybe a

         12  slight eighth of a percent of a surcharge on marina

         13  docking fees to go specifically to open up the

         14  waterfront to youth programs people cannot afford to

         15  get on the water normally.

         16                 Let us reconvene before the spring

         17  season with some ideas of a real expanded in- water

         18  program.

         19                 We are actually trying a little bit

         20  about this on an experimental with Manhattan Yacht

         21  Club at North Cove Marina, where we the Council,

         22  gives them money for their Teen Sail Program, but

         23  that should be significantly expanded into all parts

         24  of our City.

         25                 So, I would urge us to really- let us
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          2  do that, and let us do that before the upcoming

          3  spring.

          4                 MR. KERMAN:  One note just on- at the

          5  World's Fair Marina we do support a sailing

          6  education program.  It is just that the Parks

          7  Department does not manage it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Is that free

          9  of charge?

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  No, there is a charge.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Is it

         12  reasonable, are there scholarships available?

         13                 MR. KERMAN:  I would have to check

         14  that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That is

         16  important.

         17                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, we are supporting a

         18  sailing education program over at World's Fair.  We

         19  provide dockage and other support, but it not

         20  something that the Parks Department is managing

         21  itself with its own staff.

         22                 One, of course, important note in

         23  addition to access to the water through boating,

         24  which we of course agree and support, and that is

         25  why the Rangers are doing what they are doing.  That
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          2  is why we are expanding a number of kayak launches

          3  and canoe launches.  That is why--.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well,

          5  launches are fine but if you do not have a kayak to

          6  launch or you do not have access--.

          7                 MR. KERMAN:  Well, the Rangers are

          8  providing that. That is the Ranger program.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  But of course, we are

         11  also trying to get more New York kids to learn swim,

         12  which is one of the first ways you learn access.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Absolutely,

         14  and that is something we have --.

         15                 MR. KERMAN:  And we are doing that

         16  through our Swim to Safety Program, and I know in my

         17  own life I probably never saw a boat until I was 18

         18  or 19 years old, but I learned to swim and that

         19  little YMCA was kind of frightening at the time if I

         20  remember.

         21                 So, we are also focusing in addition

         22  to water access through boating, and to some extent

         23  I agree, sailing and motor boating would be terrific

         24  but the first steps are swimming and then, kind of

         25  the hand powered boating.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But they

          3  should not be mutually exclusive.  I mean, we should

          4  possess the creativity and the resources to do both.

          5    Swimming, absolutely, that is like learning how to

          6  read, that is the basic, but you do not stop there.

          7  You build upon it, and so, I agree with you, that is

          8  priority number one but we are talking about all

          9  these wonderful, natural and waterfront resources,

         10  they are the birthright of every New Yorker.  We

         11  should make that birthright available.

         12                 So again, I challenge us- let us

         13  reconvene before the spring with some concrete

         14  proposals for serious expansion throughout the five

         15  boroughs.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you

         18  council member.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Madam Chair,

         20  I need to go to the committee meeting taking place

         21  next door.

         22                 I thank you for your indulgence.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Sure, Council

         24  Member Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you
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          2  very much.

          3                 I think Greg the dockmaster would be

          4  a great teacher at 79th Street, and 79th Street is

          5  wonderful.

          6                 One of the questions I have is on

          7  transients, do you make, does the City derive

          8  sufficient revenue from transients coming and going

          9  from- in other words, is that something that you

         10  want to promote?

         11                 MR. KERMAN:   Oh, absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And is there

         13  a revenue enhancement there?

         14                 MR. KERMAN:  Sure, the transient part

         15  of our business is growing.  I mentioned earlier in

         16  my testimony, we have increased by 50 percent in the

         17  last two years the number of transients we support,

         18  and we have done that through dedicating two

         19  additional docks to it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Right.

         21                 MR. KERMAN:  And also through a

         22  little bit, which I mentioned earlier, a little bit

         23  more creative use of our current docks.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Because for

         25  instance at 79th Street, I think the restaurant

                                                            51

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  helps but you need the shower and the bathroom

          3  facilities, and that may exist at some of your other

          4  locations.

          5                 MR. KERMAN:  We did put in place

          6  about two or three years ago, there is a shower, a

          7  laundry and a bathroom at the 79th Street--.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It makes a

          9  big difference.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So does that

         12  exist at all of the facilities?

         13                 MR. KERMAN:  Well in terms of World's

         14  Fair Marina, we are actually working on- there is a

         15  shower and bathroom set. There is not a laundry, and

         16  we are actually in the process- by next spring there

         17  will be a laundry there.  We are actually going to

         18  put in another shower as well.  But there are

         19  actually a lot of showers and bathrooms over there.

         20  We are going to put in a laundry over there as well.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Because that

         22  is what people look for.

         23                 MR. KERMAN:  Oh, absolutely.  But we

         24  have had that operational for, I think, three years

         25  at the Boat Basin.  It has been very popular, and it
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          2  has helped us increase.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and so

          4  that you could use at all of your facilities- you

          5  could carry more transients?  I mean, do you have- I

          6  just did not know if that is possible?

          7                 The reason I ask is that I did grow

          8  up on a boat, I will admit it.  And so, people do

          9  travel around the East Coast looking for marinas,

         10  and are scared to death often to come to New York.

         11  That is just their perception, and so, they look for

         12  marinas that have these kinds of facilities, and so

         13  I just did not know if you have more- if you could

         14  do more business, obviously the revenue would be

         15  helpful, or if you were kind of at capacity for the

         16  transients.

         17                 MR. KERMAN:  Well World's Fair, we

         18  absolutely could.  I mean, we have dockage space and

         19  parking space over at the World's Fair.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So do you

         21  advertise in Yachting off Soundings, things like

         22  that?

         23                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, I mentioned some of

         24  the places we advertise in my testimony.

         25                 Boat Basin, we are not turning anyone
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          2  away at the Boat Basin, but as you know--.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  But we need

          4  permanent residents there too, but that is a

          5  different topic, right?

          6                 Okay, just in terms of the education,

          7  I think one of the reasons, not only is to expose

          8  people, but there are great scholarships, obviously,

          9  in marine biology, and there are tremendous

         10  scholarships in rowing and sculling, and I think

         11  just generally just perhaps sailing, sailing

         12  scholarships.

         13                 So, I guess there is another reason

         14  to do this, which is to not only enhance peoples

         15  ability to know what is going on in the water but

         16  there is tremendous possibility- I did try with the

         17  wonderful program at Metropolitan Montessori and

         18  their terrific boat, to bring in some of the public

         19  schools, but it is hard financially.

         20                 So, we obviously would love to have

         21  some discussion between you and the Department of

         22  Education, perhaps, on some of this partnership.  I

         23  think it does require some special grants to do

         24  that, either for sailing programs.  There is almost

         25  full scholarship for somebody who is sculling or
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          2  rowing. It is guaranteed, and then the question is,

          3  how to get young people into those positions so that

          4  they can apply for the scholarships.

          5                 So I just was wondering if that is

          6  possible to have those- those are more long- term

          7  discussions, but is that possible that you could

          8  have some of those discussions with the Department

          9  of Education?

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  Absolutely, I mean we

         11  again, through these different programs I have

         12  talked about, we are looking for different ways to

         13  expand and get people on the water.  We did the

         14  Dragon Boating out for two years over in the Hudson,

         15  which was our first time, and which was fun and we

         16  want to get back to that.  We are working with the

         17  organizer to do that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: It was

         19  fabulous.

         20                 MR. KERMAN:  We have talked about

         21  buying a Dragon Boat and having Dragon Boat athletic

         22  programs out at the Boat Basin.  So through the

         23  Dragon Boating which we expanded, we are looking at

         24  that, and I will just say as a note that our new

         25  marina manager was a collegiate rower.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes.

          3                 MR. KERMAN:  So if anyone is

          4  qualified to get people in the water, he should be.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, and

          6  there is lots of free kayaking, I know Council

          7  Member Gerson left, but there is lots of free

          8  kayaking, 72nd Street and elsewhere, and it is

          9  fabulous.

         10                 But I just think in terms of

         11  scholarships, it is a more prolonged discussion, and

         12  there are incredible amounts of money available just

         13  sitting there on the table for us to take.

         14                 The other place to advertise, we had

         15  a hearing recently in the Technology Committee

         16  regarding Channel 25 and NYCTV, et cetera.  Is that

         17  a place where you could perhaps consider doing some

         18  programming, or some advertising?  Channel 25 now

         19  has a much broader reach.

         20                 MR. KERMAN:  As a matter of fact, I

         21  believe that there is a Sheepshead Bay promotion

         22  featuring our new marina manager that is either now

         23  airing, or about to air.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Make sure the

         25  council member, he should be part of that also.
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          2                 MR. KERMAN:  I was not involved in

          3  the filming but we will work on that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay, but

          5  that would be another aspect to- in addition to

          6  Sheepshead Bay just in general, those stations now

          7  have a much broader reach, and could in fact, be an

          8  interesting promotion.  I think people would really

          9  enjoy seeing that.

         10                 MR. KERMAN:  Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you

         14  Council Member Brewer.

         15                 Boat, you have a boat?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Inaudible.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I keep a

         18  rubber ducky in my bathtub.  Makes me sail away with

         19  my imagination.

         20                 Port Authority of New York/New

         21  Jersey, just announced $500,000 for the World's Fair

         22  Marina last week.

         23                 What is it going to be used for?

         24                 MR. KERMAN:  That is a new one to me,

         25  so I am not sure I--.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Oh, he

          3  announced it last Wednesday the Mayor.  And Carter

          4  Craft knows about that.  We will have to delve more

          5  into that, and see where that is going.

          6                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes, we will take it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Good, okay.

          8                 How many New York City waterfront

          9  parks do not have boating access, and what is Parks

         10  goal for increasing boating access at those parks in

         11  the next, say, two or three years?

         12                 MR. KERMAN:  Well I mentioned in my

         13  testimony, we are looking at a lot of different

         14  sites, Fort Totten, Brooklyn Bridge Park, Fresh

         15  Kills, I mean, anywhere where there is a viable

         16  place that we can put up a kayak launch, either a

         17  man- made one, where we put out a dock, or a natural

         18  kayak launch.  Fort Totten has a little beachfront

         19  and we are working with the Administrator, Janice

         20  Melnick (phonetic) now to create a natural kayak and

         21  canoe area there  So obviously, the park has to have

         22  the facilities to allow it.  There are waterfront

         23  parks that just do not naturally lend themselves to

         24  water access, but anywhere where we can viably set

         25  up these launches, we are working to do that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 I have to get to the U.N. Pretty

          5  soon, I have to throw a tomato at some Iranian

          6  president, but I would please hand this over to

          7  Chair Foster.

          8                 I thank you very much for your time.

          9                 MR. KERMAN:  Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I beg your

         11  excuse, your permission to leave actually.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What does it

         13  take to make a waterfront kayak/canoe ready?  What

         14  do you actually need?

         15                 MR. KERMAN:  Well, we have developed

         16  them.  You know, we put one out at that Boat Basin,

         17  and we have one in Orchard Beach in the lagoon.  You

         18  need a natural access area into the water.  So, you

         19  have some waterfront parks that are all a vista.

         20                 I live in the East Side so along the

         21  East River promenade, you would have to do massive

         22  construction of the sea wall to kind of get somebody

         23  down there in some of those areas. So, you need a

         24  natural access point.

         25                 Fort Totten is a great example where
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          2  there is a beach area, and we are working now to

          3  construct more ready access to there.  There is

          4  parking so, access one, to some extent parking.

          5  People who are coming in with kayaks and canoes need

          6  a place to kind of, they are not something that you

          7  can kind of just carry with you.  So, you need some

          8  ability to park a vehicle and bring them.

          9                 And then of course, absolutely

         10  safety.  We want to make sure we are only putting

         11  these kind of launches in locations where it is safe

         12  to go out into the water.  Orchard Beach Lagoon is

         13  perfect, it is serene, it is quiet, it is a lot

         14  easier place than the Hudson.

         15                 So I mean, I think those are the

         16  three things, access, to some extent some parking or

         17  other facility so you can put a kayak or a canoe

         18  there.  At the Boat Basin we have storage for a

         19  pretty modest fee where you can store a kayak or

         20  canoe all year round, and then safety.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  At somewhere

         22  like the Orchard Beach Lagoon, do you have an

         23  ability for rentals of kayaks, so if someone is

         24  walking along the beach, and is like,`ah ha, let us

         25  go out on a kayak?'
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          2                 MR. KERMAN:  I cannot believe, I

          3  would have to check that, that we currently offer

          4  rentals.  Certainly something that we are looking

          5  at, and in Central Park there is now kayak rental

          6  along with the paddleboat rentals.  So, that was

          7  just introduced, I believe, last week.

          8                 So, we are certainly supportive of

          9  the idea, obviously you need to have the facilities

         10  for it but we are supportive of the idea, and I

         11  believe you can kayak now by rental along with the

         12  rowboats in Central Park now off the boathouse.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Are there any

         14  marinas or waterfronts that the Parks Department

         15  manage where there are rentals?

         16                 MR. LIBERMAN:  There is also in

         17  Staten Island in Clove Lakes Park, there are rowboat

         18  rentals there that have been there since I was a

         19  little kid.

         20                 MR. KERMAN:  And at World's Fair,

         21  actually in World's Fair Marina as well.

         22                 We do not manage it, but in Flushing

         23  Meadow Park there is canoe rental through concession

         24  I think.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well, I would
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          2  encourage as we look to develop waterfronts, and

          3  definitely think outside of the box, one of the

          4  services that we may to offer is the rental of

          5  kayaks or rowboats, of course, within limits so we

          6  are not sending people that have no clue out and

          7  then, the safety issue of it.

          8                 MR. KERMAN:  Yes we agree, I mean

          9  again, Commissioner Benepe just with, Doug Blonsky

         10  (phonetic) the administrator of Central Park, just

         11  announced the two new kayaks that you can now rent

         12  in Central Park.  We have some concessions for

         13  paddleboat and kayak and canoe launches, and yes, we

         14  are absolutely open to growing that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right, thank you

         16  both very much.

         17                 MR. KERMAN:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Our next panel

         19  is going to be Carter Craft from the Metropolitan

         20  Water Alliance, Tom Fox from New York Water Taxi,

         21  Pamela Governale from New Yorkers for Parks, and

         22  Michael Fortenbaugh, did I say that right Michael if

         23  you are still here?  I did not say that right

         24  because you did not move. How do I say it?

         25                 MR. FORTENBAUGH:  Fortenbaugh.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, I was really

          3  wrong, sorry, from North Cove Marina.

          4                 Once everyone is situated, you can

          5  start in whatever order you want.

          6                 MR. FOX:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

          7                 My name is Tom Fox, and I am the

          8  President of New York Water Taxi, a commercial

          9  marine operator that is now operating eight vessels,

         10  carrying approximately a million people a year.  We

         11  are the largest growing passenger vessel business in

         12  the United States.  We currently employ 109 seasonal

         13  employees, have our home port in Red Hook in

         14  Brooklyn.  We recruit young people from the Red Hook

         15  Houses, and this summer we have 12 interns from the

         16  Harbor School in Bushwick working on our boats. We

         17  are operating in neighborhoods that do not have mass

         18  transit from Sunset Park in Red Hook to Williamsburg

         19  in Long Island City, and we focus our business both

         20  on transportation and recreation.

         21                 We have Audobon Society tours and

         22  history tours of the City, and National Park Service

         23  Tours, and we are introducing a whole new generation

         24  of New Yorkers to seeing the City by the water.

         25                 I was a founding co- chair of the
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          2  Brooklyn Bridge Park and the first president of the

          3  Hudson River Park, and spent 25 years increasing

          4  access to the waterfront, granting leases for the

          5  Downtown Boathouse, et cetera.

          6                 I am here with a different hat, and I

          7  wear two hats.  One is that commercial marine

          8  operator.  The New York Harbor has been used for

          9  12,000 years for commerce and transportation.  What

         10  you said earlier about safety is critically

         11  important.  We have vessels now- 56 high- speed

         12  ferries, moving through this harbor carrying 60,000

         13  people a day to and from work at 20/30 miles an

         14  hour.  We have three new passenger ship terminals

         15  with large passenger ships coming into the City, and

         16  our port takes about $3 billion worth of cargo and

         17  employees a quarter of a million people in the

         18  region.

         19                      So the commerce of the harbor is

         20  critically important, and our concern- I am the

         21  chair of the Passenger Vessel Subcommittee of the

         22  Harbor Operations Navigation and Safety Committee,

         23  which is all of the commercial operators in the New

         24  York Harbor; tugs, barges, passenger ships, pilots,

         25  tankermen, ferry operators, commercial marine
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          2  operators, they are now meeting this morning, in

          3  Staten Island, at this exact time, and could not

          4  come, and the chairman asked me to send his regrets,

          5  and this is from him, remind you that having a kayak

          6  on the New York Harbor is like having a bicycle or a

          7  horse on the New York State Thruway.  The pilots

          8  that are moving 10,000/20,000/100,000 ton ships move

          9  through the harbor, cannot move out of the way of a

         10  kayak.

         11                 I myself, as my boats are designed

         12  with low- wake hulls to minimize their impact on the

         13  boating community, they are designed with hospital-

         14  grade mufflers to be good neighbors to the people

         15  that are next to us.  I have invited kayak

         16  representatives to train my captains to understand

         17  the importance of kayaks but it has to be a two- way

         18  street.

         19                 Just three weeks ago, I sustained

         20  about $5,000 worth of damage to one of my water

         21  taxis at the Battery, when a kayaker pulled right

         22  behind the vessel as it was leaving the dock.  The

         23  captain had to pull in an emergency maneuver,

         24  clipped the corner of the dock, and cut the front of

         25  the boat.
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          2                 Kayakers are not licensed, neither

          3  are recreational boaters.  You have people- all of

          4  our commercial operators are licensed by the United

          5  States Coast Guard.  They received extensive safety

          6  training.  They undergo drug and alcohol testing

          7  regularly.

          8                 Right now, we have got an increased

          9  number of boaters, four boat houses within the

         10  Hudson River Park, and we are interacting with them

         11  well, we think.  But, there is a concern in the

         12  larger industry that increasing recreational access

         13  to the waterfront, which everybody agrees should

         14  happen, must be done with a combination of education

         15  and safety training because sending people out there

         16  without radios that cannot communicate with anyone,

         17  without lighting in the evening so that nobody can

         18  see them, is endangering their safety, and the

         19  safety of the 60,000 people a day riding on the

         20  ferries.

         21                 So all we ask for is as the City

         22  expands its marina programs, that it invite the

         23  commercial industry to the table so our concerns are

         24  addressed, and so that we can develop the best darn

         25  policy we have.
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          2                 I mean, I think New York City is

          3  behind the eight ball.  Chicago has nine marinas

          4  with 6,000 slips.  We could have more access here in

          5  the New York waterfront, and should have more

          6  access.  But we have to understand this is a huge

          7  commercial port, and I want to end with saying that

          8  my company has recently proposed to New York City

          9  EDC that Atlantic Basin in Red Hook be turned into a

         10  commercial maritime center, which we would build and

         11  operate, and that the Harbor School would be there,

         12  and so that children from the Red Hook Houses could

         13  get an education on the waterfront and have access

         14  to the passenger ship industry, the ferry industry,

         15  the boat repair industry, the cargo industry on the

         16  waterfront.

         17                 We believe that this waterfront is,

         18  as Councilman Gerson said, the birthright of every

         19  New Yorker, and we pledge as a company to do

         20  whatever we can to help this Committee and the

         21  boating community expand access in a way that

         22  maximizes public enjoyment, and public safety in the

         23  waterway.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MR. FORTENBAUGH:  Thank you Tom, that
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          2  was great. Wow huh?

          3                 I am glad you did not include the

          4  sailors in that unsafe category.  We know who is

          5  opposed to the recreational renaissance now at the

          6  harbor, the commercial interest.

          7                 I am Michael Fortenbaugh, and I am

          8  the Commodore of the Manhattan Sailing Club, and I

          9  also run North Cove which is located in Battery Park

         10  City in Lower Manhattan, and Council Member Gerson

         11  earlier today was very nice to mention North Cove. I

         12  see that they are handing out a little book about

         13  the first year of Dennis Conner's North Cove, and

         14  give you an example of what we do, and what we can

         15  do.

         16                 Many people consider North Cove to be

         17  New York City's premier waterfront marina.  We have

         18  had the pleasure of hosting the Regatta for the City

         19  Council at North Cove, and if you have not come down

         20  and sailed out of North Cove yet, you can do that

         21  next year.  It is a lot of fun.

         22                 When I envision the future of our

         23  waterfront two words come to mind, North Cove.

         24  North Cove is a blueprint for our city.  It is an

         25  example of success, and shows us what our waterfront
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          2  should be like.  Have you been down to North Cove

          3  recently?  I notice that it is about a ten minute

          4  walk from City Hall, and I encourage you and your

          5  staffs to take a lunch break and stop by the local

          6  deli.  Walk down, there is plenty of public seating.

          7    You can enjoy yourself, and you can join me in

          8  seeing what the New York City waterfront can be like

          9  in the future. North Cove is a great mix just like

         10  our city.  We welcome some of the greatest mega-

         11  yachts in the world to the Big Apple.  We greet

         12  them, we tell them New York is a friendly place to

         13  visit.  We also welcome smaller boats of all sizes

         14  and descriptions.  There is also public access

         15  charter boats and sail boats.  There is even vessels

         16  for kids.

         17                 North Cove is a stunning a visually

         18  beautiful location.  It inspires the public and

         19  makes people smile.  It is an economic success

         20  story, which is loved by the community. North Cove

         21  could be replicated around our great city.

         22                 I am sorry the Parks Department left

         23  early but, oh, you are still here.  I would like to

         24  encourage you all to think and bring partners in.

         25  We appreciate you running the marinas but if you
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          2  bring extra people in, we could double and triple,

          3  and we could bring experts, and we could bring

          4  sailing to the kids of New York City.  It is a

          5  birthright.  If you grow up in New York City for

          6  years and years and years, you could not touch the

          7  waterfront.  I think every kid in New York City

          8  should have the opportunity to come down and touch

          9  the water and understand that this great city was

         10  built by the harbor, and we should have a lot more

         11  boating, especially sailing because it is so

         12  environmentally proper.  We can do that.

         13                 Marinas are good.  They benefit the

         14  citizens who live, work and pay taxes here.  They

         15  also benefit the economy. The great economies of

         16  boating centers like Newport and Annapolis are

         17  examples of how boating can spur on economic

         18  development.

         19                 So, I encourage us.  Let us get

         20  going.  The civic leadership needs to set the stage

         21  for a beautiful waterfront.

         22                 I have two words of caution.  Tom,

         23  you had some words of caution about safety.  My

         24  words of caution are first, when establishing a

         25  marina in the city, you have to be careful about

                                                            70

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  residential creep.  Housing is very expensive in the

          3  City. So it is natural for some people to buy a boat

          4  and try and live on it, and that changes the

          5  waterfront from recreation to housing.  Just like

          6  you cannot park an RV in Central Park and live in

          7  it, you must preserve the waterfront for recreation

          8  and make sure it does not become a housing facility.

          9                 Second caution is, I think, we should

         10  take nay sayers with a grain of salt.  When I came

         11  to New York City in 1987 to reintroduce recreational

         12  sailing, most people thought it was not possible.

         13  That public consensus was a negative.  It is totally

         14  changed now, and people love the water.  More and

         15  more people understand what immense recreational

         16  potential our waterfront has for the citizens of New

         17  York City.

         18                 So, I encourage us to get going.

         19  There is a great opportunity down in the East River

         20  with the South Street Seaport to put in a new

         21  facility.  The waterfront's day is only a fraction

         22  of what it has become.

         23                 I look forward to working on these

         24  things with the Parks Department, with our City

         25  Council, with our ferry operators, and our civic
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          2  leaders because it is going to be a great future.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 MS. GOVERNALE:  Thank you very much

          5  for having me here today.

          6                 My name is Pamela Governale.  I am a

          7  Community Design Program Manager at New Yorkers for

          8  Parks, and I am submitting testimony to raise

          9  awareness about a great opportunity for public open

         10  space in Queens.

         11                 As the only citywide parks advocacy

         12  organization, New Yorkers for Parks Community Design

         13  provides advocacy in the form of technical design

         14  assistance for communities who are working to create

         15  new parks or improve already existing open space.

         16                 I am here to talk about land along

         17  the waters edge on Newtown Creek, at the street end

         18  of Vernon Boulevard in Queens.

         19                 But first I would like to give you a

         20  brief history of Newtown Creek.  It is an active

         21  industrial waterway, located on the border between

         22  Hunters Point, Queens and Greenpoint, Brooklyn.

         23  During the late 1800's, Newtown Creek was the

         24  epicenter of the petroleum industry.  Exxon Mobile

         25  released 17 million gallons of oil into the creek in
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          2  an underground spill 50 years ago, and this actually

          3  far exceeds the famed Exxon Valdez spill.  This

          4  makes Newtown Creek one of America's most polluted

          5  waterways.  As you know, Attorney General Eliot

          6  Spitzer is currently initiating legal action against

          7  Exxon at the request of the Department of

          8  Environmental Conservation.

          9                 Additional creek pollution occurs as

         10  a result of nearly three billion gallons of raw

         11  sewage and stormwater that empty into it each year.

         12  Thankfully, there are many organizations and

         13  community groups who are working to improve the

         14  health of the creek, and the quality of life for

         15  communities along the Creek.

         16                 Constituents in Hunters Point and

         17  Long Island City want access to the waterfront.  On

         18  this 11- mile stretch of Newtown Creek, only two

         19  parks exist and they are currently under

         20  construction, and they are on the Brooklyn side of

         21  the Creek. So, this area is severely lacking public

         22  open space.

         23                 The Vernon Boulevard Street- End Park

         24  that we have been working on with the Newtown Creek

         25  Alliance, which was created by Council Members Gioia
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          2  and Yassky, the Metropolitan Waterfront Alliance,

          3  RiverKeeper, a diversity of local organizations,

          4  businesses, and residences.  We have been working

          5  together to create an opportunity for open space,

          6  and waterfront access for residents, kayakers and

          7  also a place that will offer a respite to the

          8  hundreds of workers that this area hosts every day.

          9  It is located just off the proposed greenway, so it

         10  can also be a destination for cyclists exploring the

         11  Queens waterfront.

         12                 Throughout the summer, New Yorkers

         13  for Parks held five public meetings to gain valuable

         14  community feedback on this project, and from these

         15  meetings stakeholders identified a key priority to

         16  be that any new park in this area should be a

         17  paradigm for mixing industry and open space, to the

         18  benefit of the industry.

         19                 Essentially as I said earlier, the

         20  community wants water access for kayaks, canoes,

         21  rowboats, a place for people to sit along the waters

         22  edge to fish, eat, enjoy the view.  All of this is

         23  represented in conceptual plans that we created,

         24  which will be on exhibit this winter.  So, we will

         25  let you know when that happens.
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          2                 The community also identified the

          3  need to mitigate storm- water, and through the use

          4  of storm- water management techniques, we can

          5  potentially eliminate run- off from ten percent of

          6  the drainage area.

          7                 While I have the floor, I also just

          8  want to quickly mention a previous design project of

          9  ours that is in the Port Morris area of the South

         10  Bronx.  It hopefully will be called the South Bronx-

         11  Harlem River Waterfront Park, and this is in a

         12  community of 200,000 people who are surrounded by

         13  water and have no official waterfront access.  So,

         14  we are working with a community group called The

         15  Friends of Brook Park to get this implemented and to

         16  get that property transferred into the Parks

         17  Department inventory.

         18                 We ask for the Council's support in

         19  transferring the Vernon Boulevard Street- End

         20  property from the New York City Department of

         21  Transportation into the Department of Parks and

         22  Recreation inventory.  Working together, we and the

         23  community and the Administration will create public

         24  open space in Hunters Point, Queens.  It will

         25  provide much needed parkland and access to the
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          2  waterfront for all New Yorkers.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. CRAFT:  Thanks, my name is Carter

          5  Craft. I am Director of Metropolitan Waterfront

          6  Alliance.

          7                 I am glad Pamela brought up the

          8  Harlem River because in this H2 Access Map which we

          9  passed around to the committees and to the staff,

         10  you can see that the stretch of waterfront from

         11  Tiffany Street in the Hunts Point around to the

         12  Yankee Stadium Ferry Landing, is probably the

         13  longest stretch of waterfront in the City that has

         14  no public access outside of JFK Airport.  To me that

         15  is a damn shame.  I mean, when you look at what the

         16  obstacle of Metro North Railroad represents, we

         17  cannot forget that Governor Pataki spent many

         18  millions of dollars creating a`Let us Access the

         19  Hudson Initiative' with Metro North Railroad.  It

         20  just so happens that all of that money was spent

         21  from Riverdale north.  So, it is not insurmountable

         22  as we have been talking to the Parks Department and

         23  to Jennifer Sun (phonetic) in the Mayor's Office,

         24  that some of the work of the seven inter- agency

         25  task force members are looking at the Bronx terminal
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          2  marketside and looking at the new Yankee Stadium

          3  could not create some recreational opportunities

          4  right there on the Harlem.

          5                 The Harlem makes tremendous sense as

          6  a recreational use area.  The low volume of

          7  commercial traffic, tugs, barges, ferries, and

          8  others, the low clearance of the bridges means that

          9  more often than not, it is a safe and pleasant place

         10  to play in the water, if only people on the Bronx

         11  side can get there as well as the people from the

         12  Manhattan side.

         13                 We have actually spoken to a high-

         14  ranking official in the Parks Department who I will

         15  not mention, but he says around the country there

         16  are any number of places where people cross the

         17  railroad tracks all the time to access the

         18  waterfront, to launch boats, et cetera, but not in

         19  New York City.  So when somebody high up in the

         20  Parks Department is telling me that, my answer is

         21  let us not let them off the hook.  If they know

         22  where those places are, if they know where those

         23  precedents exist, let us make it happen, and the

         24  same is true right underneath the Hellgate Bridge

         25  going across the Bronx Kill because when you look at
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          2  the Bronx Kill between Randall's Island and the Port

          3  Morris Monthaven sections of the Bronx, that is like

          4  a little play area, a little den that is hooked up

          5  and connected to the Harlem River, and could become

          6  part of that in- water recreation area that those

          7  communities in the Bronx need.

          8                 We sent a map to Dan Doctoroff's

          9  office in the discussions about the Gateway Center

         10  development about the stadium development, also

         11  communicated with your office and other members of

         12  the Bronx Delegation, so thanks for keeping the door

         13  open, and it shows that that whole community from

         14  south of the Cross Bronx Expressway, Harlem River,

         15  East River, Bronx Kill, has the highest volume of

         16  residents under the age of 18 of anywhere in the

         17  City, more than 40 percent in your community and the

         18  adjacent districts of those residents are underneath

         19  the age of 18.  So, how sad is it that that happens

         20  to be the longest stretch of waterfront where there

         21  is no access to the water?

         22                 In our vision for the City and for

         23  the waterfront, the future of recreation is on the

         24  water itself.  Over the last ten years, our

         25  community gardens have been built on, they have been
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          2  sold off or developed.  The infill, the

          3  underperforming assets like the Bronx Terminal

          4  Market and others are being bought up and developed,

          5  meaning that as the opportunities on land become

          6  fewer and fewer, land prices become more and more

          7  expensive, we are going to have a harder time

          8  mustering the public resources to make these public

          9  access areas on land happen.  We have got to embrace

         10  the water.

         11                 I passed around a publication called

         12  Design the Edge, which actually represented a good

         13  collaboration between us and the Parks Department

         14  looking at the Harlem River Park side, the Manhattan

         15  side of the Harlem River, and I would love to follow

         16  up with you more about potential collaborations for

         17  the interim parkland along the Yankee Stadium side.

         18                 I just want to point out three other

         19  quick comments.  Backing up beyond marinas and

         20  boating, just this past Sunday we helped support a

         21  swimming event from Staten Island to Brooklyn, 35

         22  very experienced swimmers across the narrows from

         23  Fort Wadsworth to Fort Hamilton, and on a Sunday for

         24  an hour and a half the U.S. Coast Guard closed the

         25  shipping channel, the Grand Concourse into the port
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          2  of New York so that this group of people could enjoy

          3  in- water recreation and undertake a serious

          4  challenge.  It is a tough swim, and if the Coast

          5  Guard is willing to make that commitment and that

          6  effort to support public recreation and use the

          7  waterways, we really should expect a hell of a lot

          8  more from our Parks Department.

          9                 While I am supportive of the efforts

         10  they are making, I found a lot of the responses,

         11  generally, not satisfactory.  The $500,000 for the

         12  World's Fair Marina and Pier 2, that is week- old

         13  news.  I do not know what that money is being spent

         14  on, but it was on NYC.gov for a week, and for the

         15  Marina division to not know how that money is

         16  proposed to be spent, to me as a taxpayer, that is

         17  unacceptable.

         18                 On the safety issue, the State of New

         19  Jersey actually requires boating safety class for

         20  power boaters but the State of New York does not,

         21  and something that the U.S. Coast Guard is looking

         22  at nationwide is to institute boating safety for

         23  power boaters.  Maybe that should be the standard,

         24  something we should definitely look at.

         25                 For some of the recreational users,

                                                            80

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  just an idea that I think has been kicking around

          3  and you helped articulate along with some of the

          4  other panelists, for all the Urban Park Rangers that

          5  we have, maybe we need to start training a platoon

          6  of harbor park rangers, people who are better versed

          7  in using the waterways, the ecology, the history, I

          8  think that is some expertise and resources that

          9  would be well spent by the Parks Department, and all

         10  of us.

         11                 Three other points.  In looking at

         12  the marinas and public boat landings, I think the

         13  City and maybe it is EDC, should look at the

         14  economic impact and the benefits of having all of

         15  these marinas and water facilities.

         16                 In the last five years or so, since

         17  the Giuliani administration, they have taken a lot

         18  more seriously the economic benefits of the port,

         19  the Port of New York, the productivity, Pier 7

         20  through 12, Atlantic Basin and others, but we are

         21  really not looking at the economic benefit of

         22  recreation as much as we should.

         23                 In the testimony which I handed in,

         24  which was afforded us by the National Marine

         25  Manufacturers Association, a Washington, D.C.- based
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          2  group of 3,300 members, they found a $33 billion

          3  economic impact nationwide for recreational boating.

          4    I would love to know what that number is in New

          5  York City.  It might help us make the case that

          6  there is a greater cost benefit then just the

          7  limited investments that we are making.

          8                 Three more points.  Waterfront parks,

          9  given the tremendous number of waterfront parks that

         10  we have, I really think the Parks Department should

         11  lay out a plan of how to improve waterfront access,

         12  and water access, at every one of them.  We

         13  participated in a couple of boat tours and site

         14  visits in Queens and Brooklyn and Staten Island with

         15  them three years ago, looking at potential marina

         16  locations and boat launches, that report has never

         17  come out.  It has never been publicly released.  It

         18  has been circulated in- house, but there is a whole

         19  world of opportunities in that document, which they

         20  are not letting the rest of us see, and I would like

         21  to see it.

         22                 Concessions, while we support the

         23  number of concessions that are out there, and they

         24  are good business.  A lot of them are Mom and Pop's,

         25  they are stuck with the dredging bill, which is part
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          2  of the challenge that they face.  We cannot confuse

          3  concessions with public access.  The people who are

          4  operating those concessions are trying to make a

          5  profit, trying to run a business, and in many cases

          6  they are very hostile, or at least not receptive to

          7  recreational boating like canoes and kayaks.  "You

          8  cannot get out here, you cannot get lunch here,

          9  hands off the dock, go away."  In the future of

         10  concessions of how we want our parks and waterfront

         11  public spaces to be managed, if we are not going to

         12  outright require these concessions to accommodate

         13  hand- launched boating, you know people who do not

         14  need a slip, that do not need to buy gas, they do

         15  not want to buy a $7.00 cheeseburger or buy a beer,

         16  they just want to put their kayak in the water, we

         17  at least need to create some incentives for them to

         18  encourage and allow some of the low cost

         19  recreational boating, which is springing up

         20  everywhere, to allow them at these concessions,

         21  which are taking place on public property.  In those

         22  concessions, there should be at least encouragement,

         23  and incentives, if not requirement, for free and

         24  public boating for young people.  You know it was

         25  pointed again and again that recreational boating is
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          2  for the Gen- Xers or for the adventure types, and

          3  for the well- to- do, and lots of the groups here

          4  and as you will hear more about it in the next few

          5  minutes, like the Gowanus Dredgers, by whom we also

          6  submitted testimony to you, support free and low

          7  cost boating for young people and the City should do

          8  more.

          9                 The last two points are, there is one

         10  idea out there which has been kicking around and we

         11  are looking for it, but maybe some of the other

         12  panelists know.  But it would be like a muni- meter

         13  for boats.  We have got muni- meters on sidewalks

         14  where you park you car, and then you go to the muni-

         15  meter and you put in your money and your license

         16  plate number and you get your little ticket, and you

         17  pay your $5.00 fee, and then you put the slip on

         18  your dashboard and you go do your shopping or go to

         19  work or whatever.  Why cannot we have those at some

         20  of the waterfront facilities?

         21                 In hearing from the Parks Department,

         22  we cannot forget that there is a Hudson River Park

         23  Trust, there is a Battery Park City Authority, there

         24  is the New York State Parks Department, everyone of

         25  them has their own sort of culture and attitude
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          2  towards recreational boating.  I think none of them

          3  get it right.  Most of them do not even get it close

          4  to right, and there is a big fight at Hudson River

          5  Park which hopefully you will be hearing more about

          6  over the displacement of a lot of the existing

          7  recreational boaters, who is the Parks getting

          8  built? They are not being as accommodating as I feel

          9  they should.  So, muni- meters for boating may be

         10  something like a income stream that also supports

         11  more infrastructure and an investment.

         12                 The last point is the unfinished

         13  business at the Safe Wakes Task Force.  Last year,

         14  and the Parks Department referenced the Runsdorf

         15  Law, the city council and the Mayor agreed to

         16  establish this Safe Wakes Task Force, as far as we

         17  can tell nothing has happened.  There have been

         18  talks within the Council, and I think discussions

         19  with the Mayor's side, but to hear about the impact

         20  of damaging wakes, the conflicts amongst users that

         21  Mr. Fox referenced, the other people who have

         22  highlighted the safety issues, you know, it should

         23  not take nine months for a task force to be put

         24  together to address what are obvious public safety

         25  issues.
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          2                 So, I hope through your effort you

          3  could add your voice to the chorus who are saying-

          4  to the Speaker and to the Mayor, let us put this

          5  task force together because this is a great way to

          6  bring Parks together, to bring the Council together,

          7  to bring the advocates and the operators together to

          8  solve a lot of these safety and operational issues.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you all.

         11                 I think everybody brought up issues

         12  that, I know the safety- the analogy, in terms of a

         13  bicycler on a highway, makes perfect sense.  That

         14  does not always come up, and we have to find a way

         15  for everyone to coexist.  I think in terms of the

         16  development of waterfront, I started the hearing,

         17  and I know the Parks Department differs from me but

         18  there is an attitude.  If we look at the development

         19  of waterfront in this City, it is in affluent

         20  neighborhoods, and it absolutely makes no sense that

         21  you have that area, and it is not by accident.  It

         22  is not `golly gee, we forgot it was there.'  There

         23  is not a concerted effort to make waterfronts or

         24  public space open to those that are available, and

         25  we talk about this self- sustaining, it is a code
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          2  word for privatization, and I have a big issue with

          3  that.

          4                 So, thank you all very much for

          5  coming.

          6                 Our next panel will consist of Rick

          7  Muller from Downtown Boathouse, Tim Gamble, Red Hook

          8  Boaters, Pamela Hepburn, The Pegasus Preservation

          9  Project, I believe, and Jeff Folmsbee, Independent

         10  Paddler without Access to Hudson River.

         11                 Feel free to start.

         12                 MR. MULLER:  Good morning Chairwoman

         13  Foster, and Chair Nelson in absentia, and members

         14  and staff of the Committees.

         15                 I am Rick Muller, Vice President and

         16  founding member of Downtown Boathouse, Incorporated,

         17  an all volunteer, no for- profit organization that

         18  provides the opportunity for the public to paddle a

         19  kayak on the Hudson River for free at three

         20  different locations in Manhattan.

         21                 Since 1995, we have gotten well over

         22  100,000 people out on the water to enjoy the City

         23  from a unique vantage point, while having fun, and

         24  getting exercise in a wholesome setting.

         25                 Thank you for holding this hearing,
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          2  and as we reclaim our waterfront we must remain

          3  mindful that the waterways adjacent to the public

          4  parks we are creating are a great renewed

          5  recreational resource for New Yorkers.  How many

          6  residents are able to leave the City for the weekend

          7  and go to their country place, and of those who can

          8  and do, how many would choose to avoid the crush of

          9  traffic if there were plenty of outdoor activity

         10  right here that the believe that they must leave the

         11  City to enjoy?  Yet, if we were to list all of the

         12  waterfront parks within the City's boundaries, it

         13  would be interesting to see how many actually do

         14  provide access to and onto the water itself.

         15                 In the late 19th Century, rowing,

         16  sailing and canoe clubs dotted the waterfront.

         17  Kayaking is our modern, although not the only

         18  version of such activity, and people are realizing

         19  that there is no reason we cannot again enjoy human

         20  powered boating in our maritime city in a safe and

         21  sensible manner, giving due deference to Mr. Fox's

         22  testimony, and that in our boating programs, the

         23  members of the public who come to kayak, we keep

         24  them in the embayment, the area between the piers

         25  where our locations are situated, and we very
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          2  gradually train our volunteers in safe and prudent

          3  boating, and then we also do lead trips out onto the

          4  harbor but with experienced volunteer guides, and

          5  with radios and lights when appropriate and so on.

          6  So, safety is definitely as issue but it should not

          7  be a hinderance.

          8                 Marinas and other facilities that

          9  house individually owned vessels do not in practice

         10  serve enough of our large recreation- starved

         11  population.  Yet, along with the power the

         12  government has to permit the establishment and

         13  operation of marinas, comes the common law duty

         14  under the Public Trust Doctrine to provide access to

         15  and onto the navigable waters. Unfortunately, it is

         16  a principle observed more in the breech, and what I

         17  mean by that is, Chair Foster is talking about

         18  access that is equitable, and so when we talk about

         19  public access, we think in terms of low cost and

         20  free public access so that you do not have to own a

         21  boat and pay all kinds of fees and so on.

         22                 For example, there are currently 13,

         23  and now we have just heard that 15 marina

         24  concessions overseen by the Department of Parks and

         25  Recreation.  How many of these have provision for
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          2  the launching and landing of human powered boats?  Now

          3  , we have heard Mr. Kerman's testimony, and that was

          4  encouraging and enlightening, but on the other hand,

          5  I think an inventory would really serve us well

          6  because I think the percentage is actually small in

          7  terms of public access.  How many as permittee's of

          8  a public agency are required to make some provision

          9  or institute some program for public access to the

         10  water?  How many provide short term docking for

         11  transients, and as Carter said, with muni- meter-

         12  type systems?

         13                 We urge, parenthetically, also to

         14  echo Carter, to reconvene this Safe Wakes Task Force

         15  to preserve and protect our waterfront

         16  infrastructure and vessels, and to make boating

         17  safer.

         18                 But beyond marinas, and this is our

         19  public access for the greatest number of New Yorkers

         20  will be many small, easily maintained, community-

         21  based, waterfront facilities, and Long Island City

         22  Boathouses is a good example- we see ourselves as

         23  kind of the first and a model, also Gowanus

         24  Dredgers, organizations like this.

         25                 Communally or organizationally owned
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          2  vessels will be the most practical way of

          3  accomplishing this.  As a case in point, one of our

          4  boathouse- owned, sit on top kayaks in use in our

          5  public programs, provides access to paddling to

          6  hundreds if not thousands of people over the course

          7  of one season.

          8                 So going forward, we must be sure to

          9  include space for facilities for recreational access

         10  to the water in the designs for the parks being and

         11  yet to be built.  It is no less than our obligation

         12  under the law, but it also about health, economic

         13  vitality, enhanced environmental awareness, and just

         14  plain fun.  The delight, gratitude, and almost

         15  incredulity people express as they come off the

         16  water having kayaked for free off the coast of

         17  Manhattan is wonderful to see, but we hope to see

         18  the day when such an experience is just another of

         19  the outdoor activities that makes New York City one

         20  of the best places to be in the whole world.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. GAMBLE:  Thanks, my name is Tim

         23  Gamble.  I work part- time as a professional kayak

         24  guide.  I am also a volunteer at the Downtown

         25  Boathouse.  I sort of cut my teeth there about a
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          2  year and a half ago.  I moved to Red Hook in

          3  Brooklyn and helped to found, along with support

          4  from the Gowanus Dredgers Canoe Club, the Red Hook

          5  Boaters Group.  Basically our model patterns very

          6  closely after the Downtown Boathouse.  We provide

          7  free walkup kayaking in a safe controlled

          8  environment for people from the local community.

          9  The community of Red Hook is quickly changing now

         10  but a large number of the people who live in that

         11  community do not have the money even to buy their

         12  own kayak, many have never been in the water, in a

         13  kayak, or even been to the beach, or been to the

         14  country.  By coming and participating in our

         15  program, which is again patterned after some of

         16  these other programs, very successful.  We were able

         17  to introduce them all to the water.

         18                 Chairperson Foster mentioned the

         19  grant from the Partnership for the Parks, that was a

         20  small help to us, and we look forward to getting

         21  more of that.

         22                 Only a few of these organizations

         23  have come to testify here, the Boathouse and the Red

         24  Hook Boaters, there are more, The Gowanus Dredgers,

         25  The Long Island City Community Boathouse, Flooding
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          2  the Apple runs a rowing program, Sebago Canoe Club,

          3  which was mentioned earlier, Rocking the Boat, The

          4  East River Kayak Club.  Those are the established

          5  organizations.

          6                 In addition, there are hundreds of

          7  privately owned kayaks stored in commercial

          8  facilities on a rental basis.  There are hundreds

          9  and hundreds of kayaks stored in private homes and

         10  neighborhoods like Red Hook and Queens and the Bronx

         11  where they can use the canoe launches and get access

         12  to the water.

         13                 Chief Kerman, I guess, made mention

         14  of the public launch sites that are maintained by

         15  the Parks Department, the official canoe and kayak

         16  launch sites.  We are lucky that in Red Hook,

         17  Valentino Park, is one of those and he is just

         18  proud, and it is nice that there are eight of them

         19  but that is far, far too few.  There should be

         20  dozens and dozens of them within a mile or two miles

         21  of this room as we can look around, there are

         22  several spots which there is no building, no

         23  hundreds and thousands of dollars that it would take

         24  for a marina.  Simply just putting up a sign and

         25  allowing people to use those could immediately make
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          2  these spots designated kayaking and community watch

          3  spots, but we go to these spots now and the police

          4  come and tell us we have to leave, and it is

          5  ridiculous.  Many of them are perfectly natural

          6  beaches.  There is a natural beach underneath the

          7  Brooklyn Bridge.  I mean it is probably three or

          8  four hundred yards from here, which would be perfect

          9  for a spot.  Some local activists came and did an

         10  event, like a publicity event for awareness there.

         11  People came on kayaks, people came off the

         12  esplanade, little kids were building sand castles,

         13  and the police arrived and said`everybody has got to

         14  go, and you are going to be arrested.'  The people

         15  who were on the water were not even allowed to land.

         16

         17                 There was mention made of the North

         18  Cove, yes, that is a wonderful marina but you are

         19  not allowed to bring a canoe or a kayak in there.

         20  The sailing programs are nice but- I do not know

         21  what it costs, but it must be thousands of dollars

         22  to be a member of the sailing club.

         23                 In the Brooklyn Bridge Park, there is

         24  a beautiful beach there, again, kayak launching is

         25  prohibited there.  All it takes would be to put in a
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          2  sign, and put it on the list of designated spots.

          3                 Those are just a few that you could

          4  see if the buildings were not in the way from here,

          5  but there are dozens and dozens more of them where

          6  maybe just a minor thing, taking down a fence and

          7  changing the rules, and most of them on City

          8  property could make more and more kayak launch

          9  spots.  It is not just for access, more launch spots

         10  also greatly facilitates the safety.              One

         11  of the challenges of kayaking here in the River, it

         12  is not just the commercial traffic, if something

         13  goes wrong, there is no way to get out of the water.

         14    There are miles and miles of stretches where it is

         15  just a hard bulk with seawall, or if there is a spot

         16  to get out, it is rocks and rif- raf and then a huge

         17  fence around it.  Yes, in an emergency you can get

         18  out at some of these spots.  In a real emergency,

         19  you can go to a commercial marina, even if it is not

         20  allowed, if it is an actual emergency but it should

         21  not be necessary.  All the marinas should allow

         22  landing, and Chief Kerman made a nice testimony but

         23  many of the things he said about canoe launches are

         24  incorrect.  If he would work with the experts,

         25  professionals who work either in the professional
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          2  businesses, or in the volunteer businesses, we

          3  understand canoe and kayaks and launching, and would

          4  love to work with them and help them- show them

          5  where the spots could be, and how they could be

          6  modified.  And again, it is just an infinitesimal

          7  amount of money compared to the hundreds of

          8  thousands of dollars of a dredging program or

          9  something would cost, taking down a fence, changing

         10  a rule, moving a few rocks around, and we would love

         11  to work with them for that.

         12                 I guess that is about it, I will pass

         13  it on to somebody else.

         14                 MS. HEPBURN:  Good morning

         15  Chairperson Foster.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good morning.

         17                 MS. HEPBURN:  My name is Pamela

         18  Hepburn of the Tug Pegasus Preservation Project.  I

         19  am 30 years in the tugboat industry of New York

         20  Harbor, retired.

         21                 I currently run a restoration project

         22  of 100- year old New York Harbor tug- the tug

         23  Pegasus, an educational platform for New York City

         24  youth.

         25                 We have experienced huge changes in
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          2  New York Harbor.  Waterfront access is a goal

          3  clearly being addressed and met by the City and

          4  continues to grow.  Waterborne transportation has

          5  increased for our City's residents and tourists.  We

          6  applaud the City for developing these concepts into

          7  a reality.

          8                 What remains the same is the fact

          9  that we are still number three port in the Nation,

         10  and that the East River and the North River, the

         11  Hudson River, remain major links to destinations

         12  hundreds of miles away for basic commodities,

         13  building products, heating oil, gasoline, to name a

         14  few.  The city that has such a diverse use of its

         15  waterways is a rich city indeed.  With the increase

         16  in recreational activity, and access to our water's

         17  edge and beyond, comes I feel some responsibility

         18  For recreational vessels, water taxis, attraction

         19  vessels, historic vessels, tugs and barges and

         20  ships, the safety margin has to be maintained with

         21  each type of vessel.

         22                 Some of the human powered vessel

         23  organizations have worked to educate their

         24  participants of the channels, rules of the road, and

         25  local knowledge, things necessary to operate safely
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          2  on our waterways.

          3                 Operators the other vessels here are

          4  licensed by the U.S. Coast Guard.  We need to co-

          5  exist with the activity of commercial aspect of the

          6  harbor.  Little is seen from Manhattan, as most of

          7  the ships take a left at St. George and most of them

          8  deliver their containers to Port Newark.  We need to

          9  ask the question how the City would function without

         10  the intricate waterway network and the complex

         11  maritime transportation system.              If the

         12  rate of evaporation of waterfront industrial

         13  facilities continues, New Yorkers will pay dearly

         14  for all commodities and services provided by the

         15  marine transportation industry; petroleum home

         16  heating oil, waste removal and construction

         17  materials.

         18                 The need for varied waterfront

         19  infrastructure, including marinas, is great.  We

         20  need some piers too for emergency and policing

         21  vessels placed in areas where their response time in

         22  not compromised, for some historic vessels that are

         23  too large for marinas, for water taxis, for road

         24  salt, for passenger vessels and other water-

         25  dependent functions.
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          2                 In conclusion, I would like to say

          3  that we have the opportunity to further develop a

          4  mixed use maritime.  To do this, I ask our committee

          5  chairs and city council members to be inclusive in

          6  their outreach for further information and planning,

          7  for example, maritime experts, and to consider

          8  education of the recreational boater a prerequisite

          9  for the privilege of enjoying our spectacular

         10  harbor.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Thank you Madam Chair.

         13                 I am sorry if my comments may not be

         14  as cogent as some of the people testifying today.  I

         15  found out about this meeting at midnight last night.

         16                 I am one of the bicyclers on the

         17  Grand Concourse who uses a radio and running lights,

         18  and has actually worked with the Coast Guard to try

         19  to improve safety when there was a problem with the

         20  ferries charging kayaks.

         21                 Today I am here because I am one of

         22  the independent kayakers who has been displaced and

         23  denied access to the river due to the closing of

         24  Pier 63.  We have been working with the Hudson River

         25  Trust on behalf of about 70 of us who have been
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          2  displaced by either- the demolishing Basketball City

          3  and so now, that access point has been shut down.

          4                 To solve the problem, we have been

          5  trying to work with them, and unfortunately the

          6  Trust has not been able to help us solve the problem

          7  of access, and I come here today to seek your help

          8  or the help of anybody attending this meeting.

          9                 A quick back story, when about 70 of

         10  us were evicted from the barge at Pier 63 to allow

         11  for the demolition of Basketball City, we met with

         12  the Hudson River Park Advisory open meeting, and had

         13  an meeting a week after to try to work out what to

         14  do with the 70 boats that the barge had been holding

         15  but that there is no provision for now that it is

         16  gone.

         17                 As we speak today, there is no public

         18  access to the Hudson River from the Battery to 79th

         19  Street unless you rent space from New York Kayak

         20  Company on Pier 40.

         21                 Additionally, the Trust said that we

         22  could use the Downtown Boathouse access on Pier 40,

         23  which is a public in- point but as of yesterday, it

         24  is padlocked.

         25                 So despite what you heard today,
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          2  there actually is a major problem on the river as we

          3  speak.  This in the context of two weeks in front of

          4  the Mayor's Cup Race, which many of us plan to

          5  participate in to support the City, represent the

          6  home team, but we cannot train because, and there is

          7  really a good- I know of at least six paddlers who

          8  are intending to participate in the race, but who

          9  really as of now, cannot get on the river.

         10                 I do not know if this is the forum to

         11  give you too much details, but I wanted to put the

         12  problem into the public record, and to reach out to

         13  the Parks and Recreation Commission. I do not think

         14  the Trust is intending to shut us out.  I do not

         15  think they have enough information as to what our

         16  needs and interests are.  We have been talking with

         17  them, we have had three meetings.  The space they

         18  were asked to, and agreed to provide to some of us

         19  who are preregistered for the race, located on Pier

         20  40, does not have a door.  They are not- in the

         21  waiver they asked us to sign in the protracted

         22  negotiations with them, to gain temporary access

         23  before the race, they say they are not responsible

         24  for a door in the access they are providing for us.

         25  That is up to the New York Outriggers, and as of
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          2  today despite the good efforts of Rick and Tim with

          3  the Downtown Boathouse, who are housed in the same

          4  area, there is no door, there is no access.  We are

          5  shut out of the river.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I am sorry, I am

          7  not understanding.

          8                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  I know, it is a lot.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, no, there is

         10  no door?

         11                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  When we brought to the

         12  Trust the attention that we needed a temporary

         13  storage space--.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Wait, whatever

         15  to house it does not have- physically there is not

         16  door?

         17                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Exactly, there is a

         18  raw space on Pier 40- there is ample space, but

         19  there is no door.  So, we trying to help them give

         20  us a door, and the Downtown Boathouse is trying to

         21  help us sneak through their space, but they are not

         22  responsible for it and every day goes by--.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is it a- we are

         24  talking about a door?

         25                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Yes, there is a raw
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          2  space but no door to it that we can use.  So

          3  independently, some of the non profits such as the

          4  New York Water Polo and New York Outriggers are

          5  going to put a door in, but it is not in yet, and

          6  the race is October 8th, and we cannot get on the

          7  river.

          8                 Yesterday I tried to put in- the

          9  public access gate is locked.  Now again, I do not

         10  think it is an intentional thing.  I think they are

         11  making their best efforts to help us, but I think

         12  this shows an institutional breakdown, kind of a

         13  disconnect, and I think the Trust it is not set up

         14  to kind of listen to the public that it is designed

         15  to serve.  We have tried to talk to them, and

         16  honestly they just keep saying,`no, no, no.' `Can we

         17  do this?' `No.'  'Well, could we work around it this

         18  way?' `No.'  It is very frustrating, and I speak for

         19  at least a half dozen guys and women who are

         20  registered to race, and then there is another 30

         21  people who cannot get their boats because Pier 63 is

         22  shut down for the demolition of Basketball City, and

         23  there was really no notice, no public notice in that

         24  regard.  We found out about the eviction a few days

         25  before the eviction.
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          2                 Furthermore, the Trust has not made

          3  provisions to open up water access once the barge

          4  reopens on Pier 66.  What is going to happen is,

          5  where we used to store our boats, this barge

          6  anchored at Pier 63, it is going to move uptown two

          7  piers, but even then, the Trust has not made

          8  provisions to allow human powered boating from the

          9  barge, and we have brought this to their attention,

         10  and they recognize that.  Now they have indicated

         11  they are willing to revisit that, but all of this-

         12  so there is a little picture problem and a big

         13  picture problem.  Because right now, we cannot get

         14  on the river and the big picture problem is the

         15  Trust has not shown any indication of listening to,

         16  and really working with the independent paddlers who

         17  use the river.           You know, we are the people

         18  out there you see all the time.  We are the

         19  experienced people, I am an American Canoeing

         20  Association instructor, and there is British

         21  Canoeing Union instructors, and we coach and we

         22  guide, and we volunteer with Tim to help public

         23  swims, and you know, we are the people using the

         24  river in the most proactive way, and yet, they have

         25  shut us down.
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          2                 So, those are my opening remarks and

          3  if you have questions, I would love to try to handle

          4  them, and I am really sorry that Keith Kerman is not

          5  here because so many of the comments that he made

          6  are, I think, true in the big picture, but there has

          7  been a major disconnect in the actual way that

          8  people like me, and there are a number of us, use

          9  the river.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well, we still

         11  have the really good Park reps here who do most of

         12  the work, they are not the fluff guys.

         13                 Help me understand, what is the issue

         14  with you kayak people?  Why is it- I do not get it.

         15                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Well, you know what

         16  the issue is?            We are growing, and

         17  growing, and growing.  The sport is just big, and

         18  getting bigger every year, and I do not think the

         19  Trust knew there were 70 independent boats in that

         20  barge.  It was kind of off their radar because the

         21  barge is run by John Krevy (phonetic), who is an

         22  independent concessionaire.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  But in general,

         24  not with just Hudson River.  It seems just

         25  reoccurring.
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          2                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Well, yes, it is

          3  interesting that the gentleman from the passenger

          4  safety vessel--.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Water taxi, yes.

          6                 MR. FOLMSBEE: -- I presented to them

          7  in April when we had a problem, New York Waterway

          8  was literally charging kayakers on the river at the

          9  38th Street crossing.  He was talking about a few

         10  thousand dollars damage to New York Water Taxi,

         11  well, we are talking about large empty ferries

         12  literally bearing down on kayakers, and getting on

         13  their public announce address systems and

         14  saying,`you guys get out of here or we are going to

         15  get you.'

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is there any

         17  water etiquette?

         18                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Yes there is, rules of

         19  the road, and we are all very well aware of the

         20  rules of the road.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         22                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  And we work with

         23  Commander Jim Brady of the Coast Guard.  He invited

         24  us to come back and to work with him to continue to

         25  preserve and protect safe access to the river.  We

                                                            106

          1  WATERFRONTS AND PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  made three phone calls to the New York Waterway

          3  people, they never returned our calls, and that went

          4  away.

          5                 Then just last week, a couple of guys

          6  training to race told me again they were going up

          7  close to the site- the rules of the road in general

          8  are,`do not go in the shipping channel.'

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Right.

         10                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Us kayakers stay on

         11  the edge.  If we have to get to Jersey, we do an 90

         12  degree cross, looking both ways, and holding for the

         13  vehicles that have the right of way.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So you kayak to

         15  Jersey?

         16                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  All of the time.  That

         17  is nothing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         19                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  But the point is, yes,

         20  there is safety rules, and we follow them, and we

         21  spread them.  The independent paddlers kind of

         22  spread the culture.  People like Manhattan Kayak

         23  Company, a private outfitter has tours, and when

         24  people graduate to where they own their own boat, we

         25  spread the word, you know, what kind of running
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          2  lights you need to have, what nav lights are, what

          3  kind of VH- what channel the ferry people talk to

          4  each other on, the VHF Marine Radio.

          5                 So yes, there is lots of rules, and

          6  we try to spread the good word about them.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, just

          8  wondering.

          9                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  It is not chaos, it is

         10  just that you get to hear some of the conflict.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well no, I think

         12  to Mr. Fox's credit, I do not think- he is not New

         13  York Waterways, and I do not think he is just poo-

         14  pooing--.

         15                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  Yes, correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: -- kayaks, I

         17  think we all have to be mindful that--.

         18                 MR. FOLMSBEE:  And his points are

         19  very well taken. I mean, it is true.  It is really

         20  true.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We have got to

         22  share.

         23                 Thank you very much.  That was very

         24  informative.

         25                 Our last panel is Eric Stiller,
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          2  Manhattan Kayak Company, and Jessie Stone, South

          3  Power Health and Manhattan Kayak Company, formerly

          4  Pier 63.

          5                 MR. STILLER:  Hello Madam Chair.  I

          6  thank you very much to everyone here, council

          7  members, and I feel very appreciative and privileged

          8  to have followed such an incredible panel of very

          9  wise and capable people.  I know many of them, and

         10  it was very informative.

         11                 I could speak for hours and hours and

         12  hours, but I think this is going to be best.

         13                 I am going to start with a story that

         14  occurred in May, and a top international

         15  videographer who lives in Hood River, Oregon,

         16  considered one of the most pristine and beautiful

         17  outdoor sport places in the world, paddled with me

         18  and a few of my key guides, and we were doing some

         19  videography of New York City from a kayak, and we

         20  found ourselves to be the only three kayaks in the

         21  harbor at that time.  Now this is a massive amount

         22  of area and space, but we were the only ones.  In

         23  fact, the videographer said,`Eric, are we the only

         24  kayaks in the river right now?'  And I looked

         25  around, and I have pretty eagle vision now to see
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          2  other kayaks from great distances, and I said,`I

          3  think we are.'  And he said, `this is spectacular

          4  out here.' This is a man who lives in what is

          5  considered some of the finest waters in the world,

          6  and he is saying,`this is unbelievable, the moon

          7  rise, city rise and a vista that you cannot beat.'

          8  So as a overall resource for New Yorkers in general,

          9  it is unimaginable. Now, I will go to my little

         10  statement here.

         11                 My name is Eric Stiller, and I am the

         12  founder and co- owner of Manhattan Kayak Company

         13  that up to recently was located at Pier 63 Maritime,

         14  at 23rd Street and the Hudson River, and you have

         15  heard all about that.

         16                 I also want to publicly thank the

         17  Downtown Boathouse people for giving us safe refuge

         18  after the loss of our facility.

         19                 Previous to that, I started and ran

         20  the kayak program at the Chelsea Pier Sport Center.

         21  All in all, I have personally instructed thousands

         22  of new kayakers, guided close to ten thousand people

         23  over an estimated 10,000 miles along the New York

         24  City waterfront from Coney Island to the Bronx,

         25  including over 40 trips around Manhattan itself and
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          2  probably a couple hundred trips to New Jersey.  Most

          3  are locals, but many come from national and

          4  international locations.  I have done this for 11

          5  years from the waterfront location, and 20 years in

          6  total.

          7                 Film crews representing everything

          8  from "Queer Eye for the Straight Guy" to Japanese

          9  TV, as well as media ranging from the New York Times

         10  to the Sunday London Times have shown and

         11  represented kayaking to New York City, to the world

         12  at large, through the guidance of Manhattan Kayak

         13  Company.

         14                 I am the son of Mr. Dieter Stiller

         15  who was one of the original importers of kayaks and

         16  kayak sport to the United States from the Late

         17  1950's to the mid- 1990's.  His facility, The

         18  Klepper Kayak Store, was located at 35 Union Square

         19  West in Manhattan.  Countless kayakers far and wide

         20  began their kayaking careers there.  My father and I

         21  imported, distributed and retailed tens of thousands

         22  of boats, paddles, and gear and well as dispensed

         23  thousands and thousands of hours of service and

         24  advise.

         25                 Locally, his Klepper Kayak store, was
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          2  a type of kayak mecca for all the local kayak and

          3  canoe club members including:  Sebago Canoe Club,

          4  City Island Kayak Club, KCCNY which is the Kayak and

          5  Canoe Club of New York, Metropolitan Canoe and Kayak

          6  Club, MASK, Metropolitan Area Sea Kayakers, and

          7  members of the Downtown Boathouse.

          8                 Many of these patrons headed up

          9  substantial local causes like the Hudson River Water

         10  Trail, The Clearwater, and spearheaded initial

         11  public access through the park system to the

         12  waterfront by kayak and canoe.  A gentlemen named

         13  Ralph Diaz was instrumental in that.  My father and

         14  his colleagues were circumnavigating Manhattan in

         15  the early 1960's when the waterways, by the way,

         16  were a little sketchy.

         17                 Most of the boats sold in those days,

         18  prior to 1990, were folding kayaks and could store

         19  in a closet and go in the trunk of a cab.  These

         20  days, the price point on such vessels, averaging

         21  $2,000, precludes the majority of people form

         22  indulging in them.  Moreover, lifestyles rarely

         23  facilitate the extra hour of assembly and

         24  disassembly time.  These days, most people opt for

         25  recreational or touring kayaks which are made of
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          2  plastic, fiberglass or carbon fiber.  The most

          3  popular models are sold for $400- $1,500 and are

          4  sold in town, in places like Paragon, Eastern

          5  Mountain Sport, Princeton Ski Ship, New York Kayak

          6  Company, and assorted dive shops.  Many of these

          7  shops also sell inflatable kayaks, which, as a

          8  general rule are not suitable for many of the water

          9  conditions around New York City.  Good prices and

         10  many vendors make for the potential for many, many

         11  kayakers, and as Jeff said it is truly, truly

         12  growing nationally, internationally and very much so

         13  locally.  However, their innate size, 12 to 20 feet

         14  long, 40 to 100 pounds, make for challenging

         15  economical, storage, transport and access here in

         16  the City.

         17                 A hallmark of Manhattan Kayak

         18  Company, and I take great pride in this, has been

         19  its very diligent teaching, training and stewardship

         20  passed on to every kayaker and aspiring kayaker who

         21  has ever walked through our doors or called us.  It

         22  is said that the native Indian tribes in this area

         23  called the waters in and around New York City,`great

         24  waters constantly in motion.'  It is because of

         25  currents, winds, rebounding waves, and significant
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          2  boat traffic, particularly ferry's, that we have had

          3  to teach, train, and advise clients to a high

          4  standard in order to make sure kayakers did not get

          5  themselves or other boaters into danger, as Mr. Fox

          6  had eluded to.

          7                 Once again, I believe the track

          8  record speaks for itself with kayakers in and around

          9  these waters for nearly 50 years.  You do not really

         10  hear a lot of Tom Fox stories to be quite frank, and

         11  I do respect his opinion though, and take it

         12  seriously.

         13                 Kayakers naturally become subject

         14  matter for touring boats like the Circle Line, whom

         15  announce their presence to port or starboard like

         16  whale boating tours announcing Humpbacks rising.

         17  Kayakers are a type of urban wildlife for millions

         18  of visitors to observe and photograph.  The concept

         19  of a healthy and vital kayaking community in and

         20  around New York City conveyed to New Yorkers, the

         21  nation and the world can only add value to the real

         22  and perceived quality of life here.  I do believe in

         23  making this active sport more accessible in a

         24  responsible way is generally a win- win scenario

         25  with an important caution.
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          2                  "Graduates" of our Manhattan Kayak

          3  Company and similar programming, and I have to say,

          4  within 60 miles there are two or three or four

          5  different institutions that do certifications and

          6  proper safety teaching up the Hudson River and out

          7  on Long Island and the Downtown Boathouse, have gone

          8  on to be among the best trained and most responsible

          9  touring/sea kayakers anywhere and have become a very

         10  substantial community in their own right.  Their

         11  numbers are now in the hundreds, what Jeff mentioned

         12  about 70, that is just where we are, there is 50

         13  more on the 79th Street Boat Basin, I believe Mr.

         14  Hendrickson at New York Kayak Company has another 40

         15  or 50 or 60, and the Downtown Boat House has 20, 30

         16  or 40, and it is a swelling rank, it is really only

         17  limited by storage and access.  But anyway, their

         18  numbers are now in the hundreds and own their own

         19  kayaks, safety gear and store their boats in or near

         20  the city.  Some commute to and from work by kayak,

         21  and many more would if they could.

         22                 This is a top flight community that

         23  is by its nature of experience and training become

         24  de facto guardians of other self propelled boaters

         25  whom they meet along the way.  They are generally
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          2  courteous and responsible wherever they travel but

          3  are in many ways inhibited by where they can go by

          4  the lack of "legal" and/or "safe" landing and

          5  launching sites.

          6                 It is on their behalf that I want to

          7  add a clear voice for more safe and accessible

          8  conditions.  I know and trust their process and

          9  track record nearly as well as our own.

         10                 Moreover, Manhattan Kayak Company

         11  wishes to remain in a position to teach and train

         12  beginners in all of the vagaries of kayaking in

         13  these waters with predominant emphasis on efficient

         14  technique, maritime awareness, and safety measures,

         15  while logging as many guided miles in New York City

         16  waters as possible, learning by doing.  We then

         17  advocate graduating to owning and using their own

         18  boats.  We believe this type of organization is a

         19  vital part of this overall system.

         20                 While I do not endorse a "Kayaking

         21  License" at this time, I would want to make sure

         22  that public launching and landing sites are well

         23  chosen, potentially facilitate safe day storage,

         24  like for those commuters, if not, more substantial

         25  long term storage, and carefully describe proper
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          2  kayak/canoe safety outfitting awareness.  At least,

          3  a detailed sign at point of departure, but better

          4  yet a pamphlet, brochure, or manual and I will add

          5  website that describes the essentials to prospective

          6  boaters and shows where to get teaching, training,

          7  knowledge, awareness, and gear when a permit for

          8  public launching is applied for.

          9                 I hereby offer my time and services

         10  for consultation on these matters should they arise.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 MS. STONE:  Thank you very much for

         13  giving me the opportunity to speak to you this

         14  morning.  I only learned about this hearing late

         15  yesterday, as well.

         16                 My name is Jessie Stone.  I am a

         17  doctor and a professional white water kayaker, and

         18  with the help of Manhattan Kayak Company, I have run

         19  an inner city kids kayaking camp every summer in New

         20  York for the last five years.

         21                 In addition to that, we run an

         22  able/disabled kayak marathon from Pier 63 with

         23  Manhattan Kayak Company, and it has been every other

         24  year.  This year we were planning to do it and

         25  cannot because Pier 63 has been closed.
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          2                 I am really here today to tell you

          3  about the amazing value that this public access has

          4  provided to, now, over 100 inner city youth from

          5  Harlem and the South Bronx through our kayaking

          6  program.  This is targeted towards underserved kids,

          7  and we work with an organization called Boys and

          8  Girls Harbor, which I do not know if any of you

          9  heard, but it is up on 104th Street and Fifth

         10  Avenue, and so with the closing of Pier 63, our

         11  project without a proper permit or placement at Pier

         12  66 now, of guaranteed public access, puts our

         13  programs in jeopardy, as well as the able/disabled

         14  kayak marathon, and I cannot tell you what a

         15  spectacular opportunity it is for these kids, and it

         16  teaches them and shows them that there is this great

         17  outdoors right in the big city.  This has been a

         18  free program for them, they do not have to pay

         19  anything, and it is something that I would be deeply

         20  saddened to see go by the wayside if we do not get

         21  this access back.

         22                 We represent part of the growing

         23  group of kayakers that you have been saying, `where

         24  do these kayakers come from?' They come from all

         25  over the place, and it is something- I have a
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          2  personal, vested interest in continuing to grow

          3  because it not only provides an opportunity to

          4  environmentally educate the kids and people from all

          5  over, but it is a fantastic sport, it is great for

          6  your health, it gives you an opportunity to see New

          7  York from a completely different point of view,

          8  which you would never otherwise have.  Doing it

          9  through Manhattan Kayak Company, in a safe way where

         10  you learn to properly paddle, you learn safety, you

         11  learn about the currents, it is really the best way

         12  to go about this.

         13                 So, I am just here today to say that

         14  I hope we can restore access to the waterways

         15  because I would be really sad for this kayak program

         16  to go by the wayside, as well as this able/disabled

         17  kayak marathon.

         18                 Thank you for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you both

         20  for coming out.  It has been very informative, and

         21  we will make sure to, especially you Mr. Stiller,

         22  offering your services to pass it on to the Parks

         23  Department who is the agency in charge of that.

         24                 Thank you both.

         25                 MS. STONE:  Oh I might add, I
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          2  actually did a kayak and canoe training for the

          3  Urban Park Rangers two years ago, so I am available

          4  to do that again.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, okay, very

          6  good.

          7                 Thank you both, thank you.

          8                 Having no more testimony, this

          9  meeting is adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:25 p.m.)

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            120

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 20th day of September 2006.
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